









TPS2HCS10-Q1 ZHCSQQ6 - OCTOBER 2023

TPS2HCS10-Q1 具有低静态电流导通模式和集成 I²t 导线保护的 11mΩ 汽车类双 通道、SPI 控制型高侧开关

1 特性

Ŧ

TEXAS

INSTRUMENTS

- 符合面向汽车应用的 AEC-Q100 标准
 - 温度等级 1:-40°C 至 125°C
 - 器件 HBM ESD 分类等级 2
 - 器件 CDM ESD 分类等级 C5
 - 可承受 35V 负载突降
- 根据功能安全要求进行开发
 - 我们将在产品发布时提供有关安全机制的文档, 这有助于使 ISO 26262 系统设计满足 ASIL-B 要 求
- 双通道 SPI 控制型智能高侧开关, 25°C FET 时具 有典型 11m Ω Rdson
- 集成线束保护,无需 MCU 参与且采用 SPI 可编程 熔断器曲线
 - 针对持续过载情况提供保护
- 通过 SPI 可编程可调节过流保护提高系统级可靠性
 过流保护阈值:10 至 70 A
- SPI 可配置电容充电模式,可满足各种容性输入 ECU 负载电流需求。
- 低静态电流,低功耗导通状态,可在负载电流增大时为具备自动唤醒功能的常开负载提供 MCU 的唤醒信号
- 强大的集成输出保护:
 - 集成热保护
 - 针对对地短路提供保护
 - 反向电池事件保护包括 FET 通过反向电源电压 自动开启
 - 在失电和接地失效时自动关闭
 - 集成输出钳位对电感负载进行消磁
- 通过 SPI 的数字检测输出可配置为:
 - 使用集成式 ADC 准确地测量负载电流
 - 测量输出或电源电压、FET 温度
- 通过 SPI 接口提供全面的故障诊断,并通过 FLT 引 脚进行指示
 - 开路负载和电池短路检测

2 应用

- 汽车区域 ECU
- 配电模块
- 车身控制模块

3 说明

TPS2HCS10-Q1器件是一款通过串行外设接口 (SPI) 控制的双通道智能高侧开关。该器件集成了强大的保护 功能,可确保在短路或过载情况下提供输出线路和负载 保护。该器件具有过流保护功能,可通过 SPI 在两个 阈值范围内进行配置。这可以提供足够的灵活性来支持 需要大浪涌电流的负载,同时提供更好的保护。此外, 该器件集成了可编程熔断器曲线(电流与时间的关 系),可在持续过载条件下关闭开关,从而减少 MCU 的开销。这两个特性相互配合,可针对任何负载曲线优 化线束,并提供全面保护。

该器件支持 SPI 可配置电容充电模式,适用于配电开 关应用中的 ECU 负载。该器件还具有低静态电流导通 状态,可提供高达 800mA 的峰值电流,同时消耗约 10μA 的电流。

TPS2HCS10-Q1 器件还通过 **SPI** 提供高精度数字电流 检测,从而改进负载诊断。通过向系统 MCU 报告负载 电流、通道输出电压和输出 **FET** 温度,该器件可实现 开关和负载故障诊断。

TPS2HCS10-Q1 采用 HTSSOP 封装, 可减小 PCB 尺寸。

封装信息

器件型号	封装 ⁽¹⁾	封装尺寸 ⁽²⁾
TPS2HCS10-Q1	PWP(HTSSOP, 16)	5.0mm × 6.40mm

(1) 如需了解所有可用封装,请参阅数据表末尾的可订购产品附 录。

(2) 封装尺寸(长×宽)为标称值,并包括引脚(如适用)。



简化版原理图



Table of Contents

1	特性	1
2	应用	1
3	说明	1
4	Revision History	2
5	Pin Configuration and Functions	3
	5.1 Recommended Connections for Unused Pins	4
6	Specifications	<mark>5</mark>
	6.1 Absolute Maximum Ratings	<mark>5</mark>
	6.2 ESD Ratings	<mark>5</mark>
	6.3 Recommended Operating Conditions	5
	6.4 Thermal Information	<mark>6</mark>
	6.5 Electrical Characteristics	<mark>6</mark>
	6.6 SPI Timing Requirements	9
	6.7 Switching Characteristics	10
7	Parameter Measurement Information	11
8	Detailed Description	12
	8.1 Overview	12
	8.2 Functional Block Diagram	13

8.3 Feature Description	13
8.4 Device Functional Modes	21
8.5 TPS2HC10S Registers	32
9 Application and Implementation	66
9.1 Application Information	66
9.2 Typical Application	67
9.3 Power Supply Recommendations	69
9.4 Layout	69
10 Device and Documentation Support	71
10.1 Documentation Support	71
10.2 接收文档更新通知	71
10.3 支持资源	71
10.4 Trademarks	71
10.5 静电放电警告	71
10.6 术语表	
11 Mechanical, Packaging, and Orderable	
Information	71
11.1 Tape and Reel Information	72
•	

4 Revision History

注:以前版本的页码可能与当前版本的页码不同

DATE REVISION		NOTES		
October 2023	*	Initial Release		



5 Pin Configuration and Functions



图 5-1. PWP Package, 16-Pin HTSSOP (Top View)

表 5-1. Pin Functions

NO. NAME			DESCRIPTION	
		1.00	DESCRIPTION	
1	GND	_	Device ground.	
2	SNS	0	Sense current output. Use a parallel RC network to the GND pin of the IC.	
3	VDD	Р	Logic supply input. Closely decouple to the GND pin of the IC with a ceramic 1-µF capacitor.	
4	DI	I	Sets the output behavior in the LIMP HOME mode, if configured as such. The pin needs to be connected to MCU or other HI/LO source through a 10-k Ω resistor for protection and enabling the reverse polarity FET turn-on function.	
5 LHI		I	Externally enables the LIMP HOME mode.	
6, 7, 8	VOUT1	0	Output of channel 1.	
9,10, 11	VOUT2	0	Output of channel 2.	
12	FLT ,WAKE_SI G	0	Fault output (active low), indicating faulton any (one or more) channel. Open drain, pull up with a 4.7-k Ω resistor to the VDD pin. Also functions as a wake signal to the MCU upon load current demand in Low Power Mode or the vehicle key-off mode.	
13	SDI	I	SPI device (secondary) data input.	
14	SDO	0	SPI data output from the device. Internally pulled up to VDD.	
15	CS	I	SPI interface chip select (active low). Internally pulled up to VDD.	
16	SCLK	I	SPI interface clock input to the device.	
Exposed pad	VBB	Р	Power supply input.	

(1) I = input, O = output, P = power

TPS2HCS10-Q1 ZHCSQQ6 - OCTOBER 2023



5.1 Recommended Connections for Unused Pins



6 Specifications

6.1 Absolute Maximum Ratings

Over operating free-air temperature range (unless otherwise noted)⁽¹⁾

		MIN	MAX	UNIT
Maximum continuous supply voltage, V_{VBB}			28	V
Load dump voltage	ISO16750-2:2010(E)		36	V
Maximum transient voltage on VBB pin, (example during ISO 7637 pulse 2a transient) V_{BBt}			54	V
VOUT voltage		- 30	V _{VS} +0.3	V
Reverse polarity voltage, continuous on VBB pin		- 18		V
Low voltage supply pin voltage, V _{DD}		- 0.3	5.5	V
Digital input pin voltages, V _{DIG}	SDI, SDO, SCLK, CS	- 0.3	5.5	V
Sense pin voltage, V _{SNS}		- 0.3	5.5	V
FLT pin voltage, V _{FLT}		- 0.3	5.5	V
Limp home activation pin voltage, V _{LHI}			V_{BB}	V
Limp home direct input pin voltages, V _{DI}		- 0.3	5.5	V
Reverse ground current, I _{GND}	V _{BB} < 0 V		- 50	mA
Maximum junction temperature, T _J	Maximum junction temperature, T _J			°C
Storage temperature, T _{stg}		- 65	150	°C

(1) Operation outside the Absolute Maximum Ratings may cause permanent device damage. Absolute Maximum Ratings do not imply functional operation of the device at these or any other conditions beyond those listed under Recommended Operating Conditions. If used outside the Recommended Operating Conditions but within the Absolute Maximum Ratings, the device may not be fully functional, and this may affect device reliability, functionality, performance, and shorten the device lifetime.

6.2 ESD Ratings

				VALUE	UNIT
		Human-body model (HBM), per AEC Q100-002 Classification Level H2	All pins including VBB and VOUTx	±2000	
V _(ESD)	Electrostatic discharge ⁽¹⁾	Human-body model (HBM), per AEC Q100-002 Classification Level H3A ⁽²⁾	VBB and VOUTx	±4000	v
		Charged-device model (CDM), per AEC Q100-011 Classification Level C5	All pins	±750	

(1) AEC-Q100-002 indicates that HBM stressing shall be in accordance with the ANSI/ESDA/JEDEC JS-001 specifications.

(2) ESD strikes are with reference from the pin mentioned to GND

6.3 Recommended Operating Conditions

over operating free-air temperature range (unless otherwise noted)

			MIN	MAX	UNIT
V _{BB_NOM}	Nominal supply voltage		6	18	V
V _{BB_EXT}	Extended supply voltage	See the conditions in section 9.2, power supply recommendations, operating voltage range	3	28	V
V _{DD}	Low voltage supply voltage		3.0	5.5	V
V _{DIG}	V _{DIG} All digital input pin voltage		- 0.3	5.5	V
V _{FLT}	V _{FLT} FLT pin voltage		- 0.3	5.5	V
V _{LHI}	/ _{LHI} Limp home activation pin voltage, LHI			V_{BB}	V
V _{DI}	Limp home direct pin input voltage, DI		- 0.3	5.5	V

6.3 Recommended Operating Conditions (续)

over operating free-air temperature range (unless otherwise noted)

		MIN	MAX	UNIT
T _A	Operating free-air temperature	- 40	125	°C

6.4 Thermal Information

		TPS2HCS10-Q1		
	THERMAL METRIC ⁽¹⁾ (2)	PWP	UNIT	
		16 PINS		
R _{0 JA}	Junction-to-ambient thermal resistance	33.0	°C/W	
R ₀ JC(top)	Junction-to-case (top) thermal resistance	26.2	°C/W	
R _{0 JB}	Junction-to-board thermal resistance	9.4	°C/W	
ΨJT	Junction-to-top characterization parameter	3.0	°C/W	
ψJB	Junction-to-board characterization parameter	9.3	°C/W	
R _{0 JC(bot)}	Junction-to-case (bottom) thermal resistance	1.1	°C/W	

(1) For more information about traditional and new thermal metrics, see the https://www.ti.com/lit/an/spra953c/spra953c.pdf application report.

(2) The thermal parameters are based on a 4-layer PCB according to the JESD51-5 and JESD51-7 standards.

6.5 Electrical Characteristics

 V_{BB} = 6 V to 18 V, V_{DD} = 3.0 V to 5.5 V, T_{J} = -40°C to 150°C (unless otherwise noted)

PARAMETER	TEST CO	NDITIONS	MIN	TYP	MAX	UNIT
TAGE AND CURRENT					1	
VDS clamp voltage	FET current = 10 mA VBB > 28 V	T _J = 25°C to 150°C	35	40	45	V
VDS clamp voltage	FET current = 10 mA 12 V < VBB < 28 V	$T_J = -40^{\circ}C$ to $150^{\circ}C$	30	34	38	V
VDS clamp voltage	FET current = 10 mA VBB = 3 V	$T_J = -40^{\circ}C$ to $150^{\circ}C$	27.5		36.5	V
V _{BB} undervoltage lockout rising	Measured with respect to the GND pin of the device, FETs can turn-on above this level, full switch functionality and OCP and TSD protection. Diagnostics only at > 6 V	Measured with respect to the GND pin of the device, FETs can turn-on above this level, full switch functionality and OCP and TSD protection. Diagnostics only at > 6 V	3.0	3.5	4.0	V
V _{BB} undervoltage lockout falling	Measured with respect to the GND pin of the device, FETs turn-off below this level.	Measured with respect to the GND pin of the device, FETs turn-off below this level.	2.6	2.8	3.0	v
VBB voltage UV_WRN bit is set (rising threshold)	Measured with respect to the undervoltage at which diagno	GND pin of the device. V_{BB} stics is turned ON.		4.9		V
V _{BB} undervoltage at which diagnostics is turned OFF	Measured with respect to the undervoltage at which diagno (turned OFF). Overcurrent an available till VBB_UVLO	leasured with respect to the GND pin of the device. V _{BB} ndervoltage at which diagnostics are no longer available urned OFF). Overcurrent and thermal protection is vailable till VBB_UVLO		4.5		V
V _{VDD} undervoltage lockout falling	SPI communication is lost		1.95		2.07	V
V _{VDD} undervoltage lockout rising	Measured with respect to the	GND pin of the device	2.02		2.2	V
V _{VDD} undervoltage lockout hysteresis	V _{UVLOR} - V _{UVLOF}			0.09		V
	PARAMETER FAGE AND CURRENT VDS clamp voltage VBS clamp voltage VBB undervoltage lockout falling VBB voltage UV_WRN bit is set (rising threshold) VBB undervoltage at which diagnostics is turned OFF VyDD undervoltage lockout falling VyDD undervoltage lockout rising VyDD undervoltage lockout rising VyDD undervoltage lockout rising	PARAMETERTEST COTAGE AND CURRENTVDS clamp voltageFET current = 10 mA VBB > 28 VVDS clamp voltageFET current = 10 mA 12 V < VBB < 28 V	PARAMETER TEST CONDITIONS TAGE AND CURRENT FET current = 10 mA VBB > 28 V T J = 25°C to 150°C VDS clamp voltage FET current = 10 mA VBB > VBB < 28 V	PARAMETERTEST CONDITIONSMINTAGE AND CURRENTTJ = 25°C to 150°C35VDS clamp voltage FET current = 10 mA VBB > 28 VTJ = 25°C to 150°C30VDS clamp voltageFET current = 10 mA 12 V < VBB < 28 V	PARAMETERTEST CONDITIONSMINTYPTAGE AND CURRENTVDS clamp voltage $\frac{FET}{28 V}$ $T_J = 25^{\circ}C to 150^{\circ}C$ 3540VDS clamp voltage $\frac{FET}{28 V}$ $T_J = -40^{\circ}C to 150^{\circ}C$ 3034VDS clamp voltage $\frac{FET}{VBS} < 28 V$ $T_J = -40^{\circ}C to 150^{\circ}C$ 3034VDS clamp voltage $\frac{FET}{VBS} < 28 V$ $T_J = -40^{\circ}C to 150^{\circ}C$ 3034VDS clamp voltage $\frac{FET}{ST}$ current = 10 mA VBB = $3V$ $T_J = -40^{\circ}C to 150^{\circ}C$ 27.527.5VDS clamp voltage $\frac{FET}{ST}$ current = 10 mA VBB = $3V$ $T_J = -40^{\circ}C to 150^{\circ}C$ 27.530VDS clamp voltage $\frac{FET}{ST}$ current = 10 mA VBB = $3V$ $T_J = -40^{\circ}C to 150^{\circ}C$ 27.530VDS clamp voltage $\frac{FET}{ST}$ current = 10 mA VBB = $3V$ $T_J = -40^{\circ}C to 150^{\circ}C$ 27.530VBS clamp voltage lockout fallingMeasured with respect to the GND pin of the device, FETs can turn-on above this level, full switch functionality and OCP and TSD protection. Diagnostics only at > 6 V303.63.5VBB undervoltage lockout fallingMeasured with respect to the GND pin of the device, FETs turn-off below this level.Measured with respect to the GND pin of the device, FETs turn-off below this level.4.9VBB voltage UV_WRN bit is 	PARAMETERTEST CONDITIONSMINTYPMAXCAGE AND CURRENTVDS clamp voltage FET current = 10 mA VBB > 28 V $T_J = 25^{\circ}C$ to 150°C354045VDS clamp voltage FET current = 10 mA 12 V < VBB < 28 V

Copyright © 2023 Texas Instruments Incorporated



6.5 Electrical Characteristics (续)

 V_{BB} = 6 V to 18 V, V_{DD} = 3.0 V to 5.5 V, T_{J} = -40°C to 150°C (unless otherwise noted)

PARAMETER		TEST CONDITIONS		MIN	TYP	MAX	UNIT
	Continuous load current, per	All channels enabled, T_{AMB} =	85°C		7		А
I-NOM	channel	One channel enabled, T _{AMB} =	= 85°C		12		А
I _{SLEEP,VBB}	Sleep current (total device leakage including all MOSFET channels)	$V_{BB} \leqslant$ 18 V, device in SLEEP mode, V_{OUT} = 0 V	T _J = 25°C			0.3	μA
I _{SLEEP,VBB}	Sleep current (total device leakage including all MOSFET channels)	$V_{BB} \leqslant$ 18 V, device in SLEEP mode, V_{OUT} = 0 V	T _J = 85°C			1.8	μA
I _{OUT(OFF)}	Output leakage current (per channel) from the FET, ACTIVE mode	$V_{BB} \leqslant$ 18 V, V_{OUT} = 0 FET off, ACTIVE mode	T _J = − 40 to 125°C			12	μA
I _{DD}	Active State VDD quiescent current, SCLK off, ACTIVE state,	V < V _{BB} \leqslant 18 V, V _{DD} = 5.5 V				1.5	mA
I _{DD}	Active State VDD quiescent current, SCLK off, ACTIVE state	$6 \text{ V} < \text{V}_{\text{BB}} \leqslant$ 18 V, V_{DD} = 3.0	$<{\rm V_{BB}}\leqslant$ 18 V, ${\rm V_{DD}}$ = 3.0 V			60	μA
IDDQ	Active State VDD quiescent current, SCLK ON, 10 MHz, ACTIVE state	6 V < V _{BB} \leqslant 18 V, V _{DD} = 5.5	V < V _{BB} \leqslant 18 V, V _{DD} = 5.5 V			2	mA
V _{BB} I _Q	V _{BB} quiescent current, SCLK off, all diagnostics disabled,(OL_OFF, OL_ON, SHRT_VS, ISNS, ADC)	$V_{BB} \leqslant$ 18 V, V_{DD} = 5.5 V All channels enabled, I_{OUTx} =	$_{BB} \leqslant$ 18 V, V_{DD} = 5.5 V II channels enabled, I_{OUTx} = 0 A		2.35	2.75	mA
V _{BB} I _Q	V _{BB} quiescent current, SCLK off, all diagnostics disabled, (OL_OFF, OL_ON, SHRT_VS, ISNS, ADC)	$V_{BB} \leqslant$ 18 V, V_{DD} = 3.0 V All channels enabled, I_{OUTx} =	$_{3B} \leqslant$ 18 V, V $_{DD}$ = 3.0 V I channels enabled, I_{OUTx} = 0 A		3.6	4.5	mA
V _{BB} I _Q	V _{BB} quiescent current, SCLK off, all diagnostics (ISNS, ADC) enabled	$V_{BB} \leqslant$ 18 V, V_{DD} = 3.0 V All channels enabled, I_{OUTx} =	$V_{BB} \leqslant$ 18 V, V_{DD} = 3.0 V All channels enabled, I_{OUTx} = 0 A		4.9	6	mA
RON CHAR	ACTERISTICS						
R _{ON}	On-resistance (Includes MOSFET and package)		T _J = 25°C		11.3		mΩ
R _{ON}	On-resistance (Includes MOSFET and package)	$6~\text{V} \leqslant \text{V}_{\text{BB}} \leqslant 28~\text{V},~\text{I}_{\text{OUTx}}$ = 1 A	T _J = 150°C			22	mΩ
P	On-resistance during	$-10 V \leq V \leq -7 V$	T _J = 25°C		10		mΩ
NON(REV)	reverse polarity	- 10 V < V _{BB} < - 7 V	T _J = 150°C			25	mΩ
CURRENT	SENSE CHARACTERISTICS						
K _{SNS}	Current sense ratio I _{OUTx} / I _{SNS}	I _{OUT} = 1.0 A, OL_ON_EN_CHx = 0	I _{OUT} = 1.0 A, OL_ON_EN_CHx = 0		5000		
K _{SNS}	Current sense ratio I _{OUTx} / I _{SNS}	I _{OUT} = 50 mA, OL_ON_EN_CHx = 1	I _{OUT} = 50 mA, OL_ON_EN_CHx = 1		1200		
I _{SNSI}	Current sense current	Channel current sense diagnostic ADC enabled, OL_ON_EN_CHx = 0	I _{OUT} = 10 A (±4% error)	1.92	2.00	2.08	mA
I _{SNSI}	Current sense current	Channel current sense diagnostic ADC enabled, OL_ON_EN_CHx = 0	I _{OUT} = 2 A (±4% error)	0.385	0.40	0.41	mA

7



6.5 Electrical Characteristics (续)

V_{BB} = 6 V to 18 V, V_{DD} = 3.0 V to 5.5 V, T_{J} =	- 40°C to 150°C (unless otherwise noted)
--	--

	PARAMETER	TEST CO	MIN	TYP	MAX	UNIT	
I _{SNSI}	Current sense current	Channel current sense diagnostic ADC enabled, OL_ON_EN_CHx = 0	I _{OUT} = 500 mA (±6% error)	0.096	0.10	0.106	mA
I _{SNSI}	Current sense current	Channel current sense diagnostic ADC enabled, OL_ON_EN_CHx = 1	I _{OUT} = 25 mA (15 % error)	0.018	0.021	0.024	mA
ADC CHAR	ACTERISTICS						
V _{ADCEFfHI}	ADC reference voltage			2.76	2.8	2.84	V
Isample	Current sense sampling time	Including mux timing and AD	luding mux timing and ADC conversion time				μs
I _{ADC}	ADC current consumption					0.5	mA
SNS CHAR	ACTERISTICS						
ADC VOUT _{SNS} _ _{CHx}	ADC VOUT _{SNS} output code	VOUT_CHx = 13.5 V	Includes buffer gain		459		
OVERCURF	RENT PROTECTION CHARC	TERISTICS					
I _{OCth}	Overcurrent protection threshold, immediate shutdown mode	$T_J = -40^{\circ}C$ to 125°C	IOC setting = 62.5 A, VBB = 18 V dl/dt = 2 A / μs		65		A
I _{CL_ENPS}	Peak current enabling into permanent short, immediate shutdown	$T_J = -40^{\circ}C$ to 125°C	OCP setting = 62.5 A, Test setup per AEC Q100-12			70	A
CAP CHRG CURRENT LIMITATION							
I _{CL_Reg}	Regulation mode current	T _J = − 40°C to 125°C dl/dt < 0.01 A/ms	SPI Setting (ILIM_CHx_SET) of 10 A, I _{ILIM} = 2 A	1.70	2.15	2.5	A
I _{CL_Reg}	Regulation mode current	T _J = − 40°C to 125°C dl/dt < 0.01 A/ms	SPI Setting (ILIM_CHx_SET) of 20 A, I _{ILIM} = 4 A	3.35	3.8	4.55	A
CAPACITIV	E CHARGING	1					
T _{DELAY_RAN} GE	Range of Tdelay settings	SPI settting, Pulsed current r	node	1		100	ms
dV_dt _{RANG} E	Range of dV/dt during Tdelay	SPI settting, dV/dt mode	SPI settting, dV/dt mode VBB = 16V, Capacitance = 1 mF			1.6	V/ms
FAULT CHA	RACTERISTICS	-					
			OL_PULLUP_STR=00	23	25	28	μA
	Off state open-load (OL)	Switch disabled, OL OFF EN CHx =	OL_PULLUP_STR=01	52	57	63	μA
	current	enabled	OL_PULLUP_STR=10	112	121	130	μA
			OL_PULLUP_STR=11	235	256	265	μA
R _{SHRT_VBB}	Off state short to VBB detection pulldown resistance	Channel disabled, off-state s enabled	Channel disabled, off-state short_VBB diagnostics		7.5	9	k Ω
V _{OL_OFF_TH}	Off state Open-load (OL) detection voltage	Channel Disabled, off-state of enabled, V _{OUTx}	Channel Disabled, off-state open load diagnostics enabled, V _{OUTx}		2.5	2.95	V
T _{ABS}	Thermal shutdown			155	180	205	°C
T _{OTW}	Thermal shutdown warning			130	150	170	°C
T _{REL}	Relative thermal shutdown temperature				60		°C
T _{HYS}	Thermal shutdown hysteresis			20	25	30	°C
PWM CHAF	ACTERISTICS						

6.5 Electrical Characteristics (续)

 V_{BB} = 6 V to 18 V, V_{DD} = 3.0 V to 5.5 V, T_{J} = -40°C to 150°C (unless otherwise noted)

	PARAMETER	TEST CO	MIN	TYP	MAX	UNIT	
PWM _{FREQ}	PWM Frequency	PWM_EN = 1	PWM_FREQ_CHx = 000	0.80	0.86	0.93	Hz
PWM _{FREQ}	PWM Frequency	PWM_EN = 1	PWM_FREQ_CHx = 111	1637	1770	1903	Hz
LOW POWE	R MODE CHARACTERISTIC	S					
R _{DSON}	RDSON Low Power Mode (LPM)	$T_{J} = -40^{\circ}C \text{ to } 125^{\circ}C$	$T_J = -40^{\circ}C$ to 125°C		60		mΩ
ILOAD _{EXIT}	Load current when the channel exits LPM	Exit Threshold Setting = 00 (600 mA) Current ramp at 1 mA/µs		525	600	675	mA
IVDDLPM	IVDD in LPM mode both channels ON lout = 0	VDD = 5.0 V	$T_J = -40^{\circ}C \text{ to } 85^{\circ}C$		14		μA
IVBBLPM	IVBB per channel, both channels OFF, lout = 0	VDD = 5.0 V	$T_J = -40^{\circ}C \text{ to } 85^{\circ}C$		2.5		μA
IVBBLPM	IVBB per channel, one channel ON, lout = 0	VDD = 5.0 V $T_{\rm J} = -40^{\circ}{\rm C} \text{ to } 85^{\circ}{\rm C}$			3.6		μA
IVBBLPM	IVBB per channel, both channels ON, lout = 0	VDD = 5.0 V $T_{\rm J} = -40^{\circ}{\rm C} \text{ to } 85^{\circ}{\rm C}$			4.5		μA
DIGITAL IN	PUT PIN CHARACTERISTIC						
V _{IH, DIG}	Digital pin Input voltage high-level	$3.0 \text{ V} \leq \text{VDD} \leq 5.5 \text{ V}$		0.7 × V _{VDD}			V
V _{IL, DIG}	Digital pin Input voltage high-level	$3.0 \text{ V} \leq \text{VDD} \leq 5.5 \text{ V}$	$3.0 \text{ V} \leqslant \text{VDD} \leqslant 5.5 \text{ V}$			0.3 × V _{VDD}	V
R _{DIGx}	Internal pulldown resistor			0.7	1.0	1.8	MΩ
I _{IH, DIG}	Input current high-level	V _{DIG} = 5 V			5		μA
DIGITAL OU	JTPUT PIN CHARACTERISTI	cs					
V _{OH_SDO}	Output logic high voltage drop	SDO pin current = 2 mA				0.2	V
V _{OL_FLT}	Output logic high voltage drop	FLT pin current = 4mA				0.5	V

6.6 SPI Timing Requirements

Over operating junction temperature $T_J = -40^{\circ}C$ to $125^{\circ}C$

	PARAMETER	TEST CONDITIONS	MIN	NOM	MAX	UNIT
f _{SPI}	SPI clock (SCLK) frequency	C_{SDO} = 30 pF, IO protection resistor 0.47 k Ω			8	MHz
t _{high}	High time: SCLK logic high-time duration		45			ns
t _{low}	Low time: SCLK logic low-time duration		45			ns
t _{sucs}	CS setup time: time delay between falling edge of CS and rising edge of SCLK		45			ns
t _{su_SDI}	SDI setup time: setup time of SDI before the falling edge of SCLK		15			ns
t _{h_SDI}	SDI hold time: hold time of SDI before the falling edge of SCLK		30			ns
t _{d_SDO}	Delay time: time delay from rising edge of SCLK to data valid at SDO				30	ns
t _{hcs}	s Hold time: time between the falling edge of SCLK and rising edge of \overline{CS}		45			ns
t _{dis_cs}	cs CS disable time, CS high to SDO high impedance			10		ns
t _{hics}	SPI transfer inactive time (time between two transfers) of	during which $\overline{\text{CS}}$ must remain high	500			ns



6.7 Switching Characteristics

Over operating junction temperatures, $T_J = -40^{\circ}C$ to $150^{\circ}C$ (unless otherwise noted)

	PARAMETER	TEST CONDITIONS	MIN	ТҮР	МАХ	UNIT
t _{DR1}	Channel turnon delay time	V_S = 13.5 V, R_L = 2 Ω , 50% of \overline{CS} to 10% of VOUT, default slew rate	8	30	45	μs
t _{DF1}	Channel turnoff delay time	V_{S} = 13.5 V, R_{L} = 2 Ω 50% of CS/EN to 90% of VOUT default slew rate	10	20	30	μs
		V_{BB} = 13.5 V, 20% to 80% of V _{OUT} , R _L = 2 Ω Slew Rate Setting (SLRT_CHx) = 11		0.55		V/µs
0.5	VOLIT rising slow rate	V_{BB} = 13.5 V, 20% to 80% of V _{OUT} , R _L = 2 Ω Slew Rate Setting (SLRT_CHx) = 10		0.45		V/µs
SKR	VOUT rising slew rate	V_{BB} = 13.5 V, 20% to 80% of V _{OUT} , R _L = 2 Ω Slew Rate Setting (SLRT_CHx) = 01		0.34		V/µs
		V_{BB} = 13.5 V, 20% to 80% of V _{OUT} , R _L = 2 Ω Slew Rate Setting (SLRT_CHx) = 00		0.25		V/µs
		V_{BB} = 13.5 V, 80% to 20% of V _{OUT} , R _L = 2 Ω Slew Rate Setting (SLRT_CHx) = 11		0.56		V/µs
SR _F	VOUT falling slew rate	V_{BB} = 13.5 V, 80% to 20% of V _{OUT} , R _L = 2 Ω Slew Rate Setting (SLRT_CHx) = 10		0.42		V/µs
		V_{BB} = 13.5 V, 80% to 20% of V _{OUT} , R _L = 2 Ω Slew Rate Setting (SLRT_CHx) = 01		0.30		V/µs
		V_{BB} = 13.5 V, 80% to 20% of V _{OUT} , R _L = 2 Ω Slew Rate Setting (SLRT_CHx) = 00		0.21		V/µs
t _{ON}	Channel turnon time	SLRT_CHx=10 (default)	40	53	70	μs
t _{OFF}	Channel turnoff time	SLRT_CHx=10 (default)	30	36	50	μs
		1 ms ON time switch enable pulse, V_{BB} = 13.5 V, RL = 2 Ω	- 10		30	μs
t _{ON} - t _{OFF}	Turnon and off matching	200-µs OFF time switch enable pulse, V_{BB} = 13.5 V, R_L = 2 Ω , frequency = 1 kHz	- 20		20	μs
		200-µs ON time switch enable pulse, V_S = 13.5 V, R_L = 2 Ω , frequency = 1 kHz	- 15	- 4	5	μs
		V_{S} = 13.5 V, R_{L} = 2 Ω , 1 ms pulse - VOUT from 0 to VS Slew Rate Setting (SLRT_CHx) = 11		0.4		mJ
E	Switching energy losses during turnon	V_{S} = 13.5 V, R_{L} = 2 Ω , 1 ms pulse - VOUT from 0 to VS Slew Rate Setting (SLRT_CHx) = 10		0.5		mJ
		V_{S} = 13.5 V, R_{L} = 2 Ω , 1 ms pulse - VOUT from 0 to VS Slew Rate Setting (SLRT_CHx) = 01		0.65		mJ
		V_S = 13.5 V, R_L = 2 Ω , 1 ms pulse - VOUT from 0 to VS Slew Rate Setting (SLRT_CHx) = 00		0.9		mJ
		V_{S} = 13.5 V, R_{L} = 2 Ω , 1 ms pulse - VOUT from VS to 0 Slew Rate Setting (SLRT_CHx) = 11		0.37		mJ
F	Switching energy losses during	V_S = 13.5 V, R_L = 2 Ω , 1 ms pulse - VOUT from VS to 0 Slew Rate Setting (SLRT_CHx) = 10		0.48		mJ
	turnoff	V_{S} = 13.5 V, R_{L} = 2 Ω , 1 ms pulse - VOUT from VS to 0 Slew Rate Setting (SLRT_CHx) = 01		0.68		mJ
		V_{S} = 13.5 V, R _L = 2 Ω , 1 ms pulse - VOUT from VS to 0 Slew Rate Setting (SLRT_CHx) = 00		0.9		mJ



7 Parameter Measurement Information







8 Detailed Description

8.1 Overview

The TPS2HCS10-Q1 device is a dual-channel smart high-side switch intended for use with 12-V automotive batteries. The TPS2HCS10-Q1 device integrates SPI control and configuration as well digital readout with an ADC of key device and load diagnostics. The device incorporates all of the specific features needed for a power distribution switch as well as the traditional protective and diganostic functions seen in high side switches for actuator drive applications.

Diagnostics features include a digital current, output voltage and FET temperature sense output that can be read over the SPI serial interface. The high-accuracy load current sense allows for diagnostics of complex loads. The output voltage sense and FET temperature sense fearures in the device enables diagnosis of the switch and load failures.

This device includes protection through thermal shutdown, overcurrent protection, transient withstand, and reverse battery operation. In addition, the device also includes an SPI-configurable wire-harness protection function through a defined fuse or tme-current curve. The protection works in conjunction with an immediate switch-off overcurrent protection with an SPI-configurable threshold to fully protect against overload and short circuit faults.

The TPS2HCS10-Q1device also integrates a low quiescent current mode where the device can provide currents in the 100s of mA range while consuming only micro-amps of current. The device automatically switches to the high-current mode on an increase in load current and provide a wake signal to the MCU. Further, the device includes a capacitive charging mode that reduces the peak current load on the supply. Together, the two features support power distribution switch to off-board ECU applications.

For more details on the diagnosis, power distribution and protection features, refer to the *Feature Description* and *Application Information* sections of the document.

The TPS2HCS10-Q1 is one device in a family of TI high side switches. For each device, the part number indicates elements of the device behavior. 🔀 8-1 gives an example of the device nomenclature.



图 8-1. Naming Convention



ADVANCE INFORMATION

8.2 Functional Block Diagram

The functional block diagram shown below.



8.3 Feature Description

8.3.1 Protection Mechanisms

The TPS2HCS10-Q1device is designed to operate in the automotive environment. The protection mechanisms allow the device to be robust against many system-level events such as load dump, reverse battery, short-to-ground, overload and more.

There are three protection features which, if triggered, will cause the switch to automatically disable:

- · Thermal Shutdown
- Overcurrent protection
- Fuse-like protection with a programmable time-current curve

When any of these protections are triggered, the affected channel will be turned off. While one of the switches is in fault turn-off, the fault indication will be available on the \overline{FLT} pin (see the *Diagnostic Mechanisms* section of the data sheet for more details) and the faulted channel and the type of fault can be read back from the diagnostics registers over the SPI interface.

The ouput is no longer held off (FET and channel can be re-enabled) and the fault indication is reset when all of the below conditions are met:

- Programmed t_{RETRY} for the particular protection mode has expired or if set in the latch mode, unlatched through appropriate SPI writes.
- All faults are cleared (thermal shutdown, overcurrent protection, fuse protection).



8.3.1.1 Programmable Fuse Protection

The device includes a programmable fuse protection, that is based on a defined time-current curve and is commonly referred to as I2t protection in melting fuse data sheets. The intent is to match the switch turnoff behavior of a melting fuse. There are two parameters that can be configured (for each channel) in the I2T_CONFIG_CH1 and I2T_CONFIG_CH2 registers - that sets the time-current curve. One, the nomimal current (NOM_CUR_CHx), is the current below which the device can supply current indefinitely without turn-off. This is roughly equivalent to the fuse current rating of the melting fuses. The second parameter, I2T_TRIP_CHx, is the integral energy value above which the switch is turned off. Other parameters that define the region are (1) the maximum current that is measurable (ISWCL_CHx) that is determined by the current sense ratio (KSNS) of the device and the resistor chosen on the sense pin and (2) the SWCL_DLY_TMR_CHx that sets the time after which the channel shutdown when the current exceeds ISWCL_CHx. The channel remains off for a period set by TCLDN_CHx bits before retrying. The device can be configured to latch-off (retry only on MCU re-enable of the channel) by setting the two-bit TCLDN_CHx to 00.

The operational region for the fuse-based shutdown is shown in the 🛽 8-2 below. Exemplary values for the current values that bound the operational region is included.



图 8-2. Current Operational Region of Fuse Based Switchoff

8.3.1.2 Thermal Shutdown

The TPS2HCS10-Q1 includes a temperature sensor on the power FET and also within the controller portion of the device. There are two cases that the device will consider to be a thermal shutdown fault:

- $T_{J,FET} > T_{ABS}$
- $(T_{J,FET} T_{J,controller}) > T_{REL}$



After the fault is detected, the switch will turn off. If $T_{J,FET}$ exceeds T_{ABS} , the fault is cleared when the switch temperature decreases by the hysteresis value, T_{HYS} . If instead, the T_{REL} threshold is exceeded, the fault is cleared after T_{RETRY} passes.

8.3.1.3 Overcurrent Protection And Capacitive Load Charging

The device features overcurrent protection with an adjustable protection threshold programmed in the ILIM_CONFIG_CHx register. Additional programmability is introduced to account for capacitive loads and motor or lamp loads with a high inrush current. The type of load can be specified as capacitive or not using the CAP_CHRG_CHx bits in the ILIM_CONFIG_CHx register. A value other than 00 indicates capacitive load and the overcurrent protection as well as capacitive load charging behavior is defined for the time defined by the INRUSH_DURATION_CHx bits in the ILIM_CONFIG_CHx register. In these modes, the current is limited using the cap charging rate that is programmed using the ILIM_CONFIG_CHx register CAP_CHRG_DVDT [7:4] bits. A CAP_CHRG_CHx setting of 00 is used for a non-capacitive loads and here the overcurrent protection threshold is set using INRUSH_LIMIT_CHx for the time defined by the INRUSH_DURATION_CHx bits. Unlike the capacitive charging modes, the current is not limited but the channel is turned off immediately in case the threshold current is exceeded. In either type of load, the overcurrent protection is immediate turn-off once past the inrush duration phase. The normal load current behavior is shown in the 🖾 8-4 for the capacitive loads and in the 🕅 8-3 for the inductive or resistive loads (like heaters and motors).









图 8-4. Normal load current behavior on channel enable into a capacitive load and overcurrent thresholds

An overcurrent protection event occurs when I_{OUTx} exceeds the programmed threshold level, I_{CL} . When I_{OUT} reaches the current limit threshold, ICL, the channel is immediately turned off. Please note that the current may peak at a higher value (I_{CL_pk}) than the programmed overcurrent threshold (I_{CL}). This is due to the limitation of the speed of the over-current protection response.



 \mathbb{E} 8-5 shows the immediate overcurrent protection switch off behavior. The switch will retry after the fault is cleared and t_{RETRY} has expired. When the switch retries after a shutdown event, the fault indication will remain until V_{OUT} has risen to V_{BB} - 1.8 V. Once V_{OUT} has risen, the fault indication at the pin is reset and current sensing is available. If there is a short-to-ground and V_{OUT} is not able to rise, the fault indication will remain indefinitely.



图 8-5. Overcurrent Protection Response

8.3.1.4 Reverse Battery

In the reverse battery condition, the switch will automatically be enabled regardless of the state of the output (set by the SW_STATE register) to prevent excess power dissipation inside the MOSFET body diode. In many applications (for example, resistive loads), the full load current may be present during reverse battery. In order to activate the automatic switch on feature, the DI pin must have a path to ground from either from the MCU or it needs to be tied to ground through R_{PROT} if unused.

There are two options for blocking reverse current in the system. The first option is to place a blocking device (FET or diode) in series with the battery supply, blocking all current paths. The second option is to place a blocking diode in series with the GND node of the high-side switch. This method will protect the controller portion of the switch (path 2), but it will not prevent current from flowing through the load (path 3). The diode used for the second option may be shared amongst multiple high-side switches.





图 8-6. Current Path During Reverse Battery

For more information on reverse battery protection, refer to TI's *Reverse Battery Protection for High Side Switches* application note.

8.3.2 Diagnostic Mechanisms

8.3.2.1 VOUT Short-to-Battery and Open-Load

The TPS2HCS10-Q1 is capable of detecting short-to-battery and open-load events regardless of whether the channel output is turned on or off, however the two conditions use different methods.

8.3.2.1.1 Detection With Channel Output (FET) Enabled

When the channel output is enabled and the FET is on, the VOUT short-to-battery and open-load conditions can be detected by the current sense feature. In both cases, the load current as measured using the current sense circuit and the ADC (available in the ADC_RESULT_CHx_I register, CH1 shown as example) as below the expected value. The current sense accuracy can be increased at low current levels by changing the current sense ratio from a nominal value of 5000 to a lower value of 1200. This is accomplished by setting the OL_ON_EN_CHx bit to 1 in the DIAG_CONFIG_CHx register (CH1 shown for example). However, the load current needs to be confirmed to be below 100 mA for this bit to take effect. In addition, the voltage input to the ADC can be scaled by a factor of 8 by setting the ISNS_SCALE_CHx bit in the same DIAG_CONFIG_CHx register (CH1 shown for example). This enables the ADC to measure the low load current with better resolution.

8.3.2.1.2 Detection With Channel Output Disabled

While the channel output is disabled (FET is off), and if the OL_OFF_EN_CHx bit in the DIAG_CONFIG_CHx register (CH1 shown as example) is set high, an internal comparator will detect the condition of V_{OUT} . The detection circuit is shown in \bigotimes 8-7. If the load is disconnected (open load condition) or there is a short to battery the V_{OUT} voltage will be higher than the open load threshold ($V_{OL,off}$) and a fault is indicated on the FLT pin unless masked in the FAULT_MASK register. The faulted channel can be determined by reading the FLT_STAT_CHx (CH1 shown as example) register with the OL_OFF_CHx bit set if there is a open load on that

channel. An internal pull-up current source of programmable value (through configuration bits OL_PU_STR in the DIAG_CONFIG_CHx register) is used, so no external component is required if an open load must be detected even with some on-board load and there is significant leakage or other current draw even when the load is disconnected. A pull-up resistor and switch can be added externally to set the V_{OUT} voltage above the V_{OL.off} during open load conditions, if the internal pull-up is not sufficient.



This figure assumes that the device ground and the load ground are at the same potential. In a real system, there may be a ground shift voltage of the order of 1 V.

图 8-7. Short to Battery and Open Load Detection

While the switch is disabled and OL_OFF_EN_CHx bit in the DIAG_CONFIG_CHx is set high, the fault indication mechanism will continuously represent the present status. For example, if V_{OUT} decreases from greater than V_{OL} to less than V_{OL} , the fault indication is reset.

Further, to distinguish between an open load and short-to-battery condition, a second diagnostic can be enabled (in the off-state) by setting the SVBB_EN_CHx bit in the DIAG_CONFIG_CHx register (after the device detect either an open load or short-to-battery). The device then enables a pulldown on the output. If the short-to-battery condition exists, V_{OUT} voltage will remain higher than the open load threshold ($V_{OL,off}$) the the SHRT_VBB_CHx bit will be set high.

8.3.2.2 Digital Current Sense Output

The current sense circuit provide a current output that is proportional to the load current and this current will be sourced into an external resistor to create a voltage that is proportional to the load current. This voltage may be measured by either an external ADC or by the internal ADC. To ensure accurate sensing measurement, the sensing resistor should be connected to the IC GND pin if using the internal ADC. On the other hand, if using the MCU ADC, then the sensing resistor should be connected to the same ground potential as the microcontroller ADC.

The 10-bit digital current sense output can be read from the ADC_RESULT_CHx_I (H2 shown as example) register. The ISNS_RDY_CHx bit is set if the ADC conversion result is updated in the register from the last time the register was read.

8.3.2.2.1 R_{SNS} Value and Accuracy / Resolution of Current Measurement

The following factors should be considered when selecting the R_{SNS} value:

- Current sense ratio (K_{SNS})
- Largest and smallest diagnosable load current required for application operation
- Full-scale voltage of the ADC
- Tolerance of the resistor used



At low current levels, the KSNS factor can be scaled up by a factor of around 4.17 using the configuration bit, OL_ON_EN_CHx, in the DIAG_CONFIG_CHx register to improve the accuracy of current measurement. In order to further improve the resolution at low current levels, the device offers the configuration bit ISNS_SCALE_CHx in the DIAG_CONFIG_CHx register that multiplies the input voltage to the ADC by a factor of 8. This enables the ADC to measure currents even of the order of 10 mA with sufficient bit resolution.

8.3.2.2.1.1 High Accuracy Load Current Sense

In many automotive ECUs, the high-side switch is need to provide diagnostic information about the downstream load current. With more complex loads, high accuracy sensing is required. A few examples follow:

- LED lighting: In many architectures, the body control module (BCM) must be compatible with both incandescent bulbs and also LED modules. The inacndescent lamp load may be relatively simple to diagnose. However, the LED module will consume less current and also can include multiple LED strings in parallel. The same BCM is used in both cases, so the high-side switch can accurately diagnose both load types.
- **Solenoid protection**: Often solenoids are precisely controlled by low-side switches. However, in a fault event, the low-side switch cannot disconnect the solenoid from the power supply. A high-side switch can be used to continuously monitor several solenoids. If the system current becomes higher than expected, the high-side switch can disable the module.

8.3.2.2.1.2 SNS Output Filter

To achieve the most accurate current sense value, it is recommended to filter the SNS output. There are two methods of filtering:

- Low-Pass RC filter between the SNS pin and the ADC input. This filter is illustrated in 图 9-1 with typical values for the resistor and capacitor. The designer should select a C_{SNS} capacitor value based on system requirements. A larger value will provide improved filtering but a smaller value will allow for faster transient response.
- The ADC and microcontroller can also be used for filtering. It is recommended that the ADC collects several measurements of the current sense output. The median value of this data set should be considered as the most accurate result. By performing this median calculation, the microcontroller can filter out any noise or outlier data.

8.3.2.3 Output Voltage and FET Temperature Sensing

The following voltage and temperature sense output are available as 10-bit digital outputs after ADC conversion.

- Channel output VOUTx voltage sensing available from ADC_RESULT_CHx_V register
- · Channel FET temperature sensing available from ADC_RESULT_CHx_T register
- Supply voltage input sense available from ADC_RESULT_VBB register

The channel output voltage sensing circuit and the ADC MUX is shown in 🖄 8-8. The feature removes the need for external components and reduces the MCU ADC channel use in order to monitor the output voltage for diagnostic purposes.





图 8-8. VOUT Voltage Sensing and ADC MUX

8.4 Device Functional Modes

8.4.1 State Diagram

The device has three main categories of states it can transition into and out of: low quiescent current, normal operation, and failsafe. Insdie of each of the categories are several states the device can be in. The state diagram for the device is shown in [8] 8-9





图 8-9. State Diagram

表 8-1. State Transition

Operating Mode	Entering Condition	Leaving Condition	Characteristics
Off (this is not an operating mode)	ANY STATE On POR from loss of all supply 	SLEEP POR is RESET when supply input is available 	Nothing powered
SLEEP	OFF • VBB > VBBPOR • ACTIVE - SLEEP SPI Command	CONFIG /ACTIVE through INIT & ABIST • CS= 0 AND VDD > VDD_UVLOR A Dummy SPI command will wake the device from SLEEP	 VOUTx OFF Digital OFF Registers Lost IVBB = IVBBSLEEP (~1' s µ A) IVDD = IVDDSLEEP (~sub µ A)



表 8-1. State Transition (
Operating Mode	Entering Condition	Leaving Condition	Characteristics		
CONFIG/ACTIVE	SLEEP through INIT & ABIST • TCS = 0 AND • VDD > UVLOR LOW POWER MODE through ABIST • LPM Exit SPI OR • Load current increase LIMP HOME • VDD > UVLOR AND • "LH_STAT" = 1 AND • LHI pin is low	SLEEP SPI SLEEP command LOW POWER MODE LPM SPI Command LIMP HOME VDD < UVLOF OR SPI WD failure if set OR LHI pin pulled HI	 All registers can be configured VOUTx ON/OFF On state diagnostics available FLT reporting OL on state All ISNS, VSNS, TSNS IVDD = Full IQ IVBB = Full IQ 		
LOW POWER MODE (LPM)	ACTIVE LPM SPI Command 	ACTIVE through ABIST LPM Exit SPI OR Load current increase 	 High RON Digital mostly off Register values held IVDD = IDDLPM (~12 µ A) IVBB = IQLPM (~4 µ A/ch) 		
VBB_UVLO	CONFIG/ACTIVE VBB < UVLOF AND PIPOR AND VDD > UVLOR	CONFIG/ACTIVE VBB > UVLOF AND POR AND VDD > UVLOR	 VOUTx OFF Digital ON Register Values Kept SPI communication and diagnostics not supported 		
	CONFIG/ACTIVE VDD < UVLOF OR LHI pin HI OR SPI WD failure, if set 	CONFIG/ACTIVE VDD > UVLOR AND "LH_STAT" = 1 AND LHI pin is low	 VOUTx set by LHI_IN or DIx Digital ON Register values kept, if initialized SPI communication and diagnostics supported, if VDD high 		

.

8.4.2 SLEEP

The TPS2HCS10-Q1 output channels are typically among a large number of channels in an ECU. The ECUs need to consume uAs of of current while the car is in park mode or key-off mode. The SLEEP mode is lowest current consumption mode of the IC with current consumption of the order of a uA per channel. In the key-off mode for the car, the TPS2HCS10-Q1 can be in either LPM mode when at least one channel has to supply a load ECU or in the SLEEP state where all the channels are OFF and the digital/ VDD circuits are all powered off. The SPI command as a write to the SLEEP register places the device in the SLEEP state. The VDD and VBB pins of the IC are expected to be powered in the SLEEP state.

In the SLEEP state the device is mostly powered off, so that the overall current consumption from VBAT of the ECU is minimized for a totality of the high-side switch channels. In this mode the a low nCS pin can wake up the device and place the device in the CONFIG state ready for SPI communication. However, SPI communication (actual data communication) can happen only after the t_{READY} period.







8.4.3 CONFIG/ACTIVE

The CONFIG/ACTIVE state is where the device stays during normal operation when the outputs are OFF (CONFIG) or ON (ACTIVE). The difference between the two is that in the CONFIG state (with the outputs OFF) all of the registers can be configured. In the ACTIVE state with the outputs ON, the parallel configuration of the channel cannot be changed (PARALLEL_12 bit in the DEVICE_CONFIG register). The configuration registers (especially ones needed for to successfully enable the channel) are expected to be written to before the outputs can be turned ON, when transitioning from the SLEEP state (and all the registers are lost). However, the configuration registers are retained while in the LPM state and so the device does not need to be reconfigured while transitioning from the LPM state to the ACTIVE state. The quiescent current for VBB, I_{QVBB}, and VDD,

I_{QVVD} is higher than in other states to support the load and device diagnostics. SPI communication and diagnostics check is fully supported in this state.

The device can be transitioned into the CONFIG state from the SLEEP state by the CSN pin going low (a dummy SPI command serves this purpose). The device completes the transition through all initializations and functional safety checks. The device transitions to and from the LIMP HOME state depending on the internal SPI watchdog monitor and the status of the LHI input pin. The device can transition into and out of the LPM state by a write to the LPM register.

8.4.4 Battery Supply Input (VBB) Under-voltage

The device includes a battery supply (VBB) under-voltage monitoring. Some of the internal reference and regulators and the output FETs are turned OFF when the VBB supply falls below the VBB_{UVLOF} threshold. When the input VBB supply is lost, the device relies on the low voltage supply input to keep the digital functions and registers alive. The SPI communication is also available as long as VDD input is supplied. The VBB UVLO error fault bits can be read over SPI from the CH_FLT_TYPE_FAULT_GLOBAL_TYPE register (VBB_UVLO bit). The following table indicates the device operation under a loss of supply condition.

	VDD < VDD_UVLO	VDD > VDD_UVLO
VBB < VBB_UVLO	 Channels are OFF Registers are reset and digital core OFF SPI communication not possible 	 Channels are OFF Registers are maintained and digital core is ON SPI communication possible
VBB > VBB_UVLO	 Device is in LIMP HOME mode, channels set by LIMP_HOME mode programming Registers are maintained and digital core is ON SPI communication not possible 	 Channels are controlled by SPI register writes Registers are maintained and digital core is ON SPI communication possible

α o-2. Device operation under supply loss condition
--

The register information may be lost when both the VBB and VDD supplies are below the POR and UVLO conditions respectively. The device is able to indicate with a register read of the POR bit in the CH_FLT_TYPE_FAULT_GLOBAL_TYPE register that a reset of the digital has occurred. This will ensure that the SPI master can identify that the register contents are all lost and the configuration registers needs to be rewritten. It is recommended that the bit be read if any under-voltage fault is detected

8.4.5 LOW POWER MODE (LPM) State

This section discusses the implementation of the low current mode with a low quiescent current (Iq) feature in HCS-family devices.

Functionality

To supply ECUs that provide monitoring functions while the car is in the park mode (key-off mode), a low power mode (LPM) of operation is designed where the device consumes very low quiescent current even while the outputs are ON. The capabilities of the device are:

- Low quiescent current of the order of 10 uA from the battery input while delivering 100s of mAs of current with a maximum current of 800 mA per channel (limited only by wake threshold setting).
- Protection against short circuit at the output while in low power mode. In other words, if a short circuit were to occur with the output ON in low power mode, the device protects itself.
- Automatically respond to load current increase by transitioning to the ACTIVE state. The device provides a
 wake signal to the microcontroller (that is in sleep mode) to wake the system up through the FLT /
 WAKE_SIG pin.



图 8-11. LPM Functional Block Diagram

Entry to and Exit from LPM

The device can be transitioned to the LPM state by writing to the LPM register. Any or both of the FETs can be ON in LPM, the set of channels to be ON is set by SW_STATE register (so needs to be written to before the write to the LPM register) and the command to go to LPM is received. Once in LPM the output state cannot be changed unless moved to ACTIVE state. The other requirement is that the switches that are enabled before the LPM mode bit is set, has to complete the inrush current phase before the transition to LPM is completed. All of the configuration registers are retained while the device is in the LPM state.

Please note that there is no output ON-to-OFF or OFF-to-ON tranistion possible during the ACTIVE to LPM transition. Only the channels that are already ON in ACTIVE state are allowed to be ON in LPM mode. The STATE has to be set to be ON in ACTIVE state and the channel must be fully ON before the LPM transition begins. Similarly, if the channel is OFF in the in LPM mode, that channel can be turned ON only in the ACTIVE state (after the transition to ACTIVE state is complete)



Texas

INSTRUMENTS

www.ti.com.cn



- 1. When the VDD supply is lost or the supply voltagae falls belows the POR threshold the device transitions to OFF or SLEEP state where all register config is lost. The entry back to ACTIVE state is per the normal power up sequence including a wake signal from the MCU.
- 2. Special SPI command to write "0" to the LPM bit.
- 3. Current increase beyond the threshold set in the range from 200 mA to 800 mA using SPI configuration register LPM using register .

System Wake

The MCU or controller can write a special command to the LPM register setting the LPM bit to 0 to set the ICs in LPM state back to the ACTIVE state. When the digital core wakes up, the device interprets the command to go the ACTIVE state (if the special command is received). If the received command is not the SPI write to the LPM register, then the device stays in the LPM state. After the device is in the ACTIVE state – the MCU has to read to clear LPM bit to pull the \overline{FLT} pin back up and clear any residual LPM condition.

Automatic Wake on Load Current Increase

The device takes the responsibility to wake the system and itself up when there is a load current increase beyond the programmed threshold. The threshold current (either ECU load current demand increase or an output short circuit) to activate the switch to the main MOSFET is in the range of 200 mA to 800 mA (programmable). The expectation is that the maximum current draw from the ECU while in low quiescent current mode (without the need to wake up) is lower than the programmed threshold. The additional load current demand and the transition to the active state is signaled to the MCU or the System Basis Chip (SBC) with a falling edge of the FLT or WAKE_SIG (active low pull-up resistor to VDD) that can be used as an interrupt by the MCU or the SBC to wake up the system. The device can then be polled over SPI to see if the FLT or WAKE_SIG pin transition was caused by the load ECU current demand or a short circuit. The device is in the ACTIVE state with full SPI diagnostic capability and the short circuit fault condition can be read back from the fault register. The device registers a FAULT and as over-current protection fault only if the overcurrent is confirmed in the ACTIVE state. After the device transitions to ACTIVE because of a load current increase, the LPM bit in the LPM register remains set to 1. To go to LPM state again, the LPM bit in the LPM register needs to be set to 0 and then 1 again.



The timing diagram of the device response to a load current increase to any of the output channels is shown in .

图 8-13. LPM to ACTIVE State Transition on Load Current Increase



In the case of a slow increase in load current, the device detects a load current in excess of the programmed threshold for ACTIVE state transition. The channel output transitions smoothly to the low Ron FET state and achieve full load current capability with only a minor drop in the output voltage. However, in the case where the load current increases fast so that a second higher protection current threshold is reached before the FET is fully ON, the device switches off the channel. This is done to protect against potential short circuit at the output. The device then turns back on the channel in ACTIVE state and with the main FET ON. The output is then fully protected against a short and the channel either provides the full load current or stays in the overcurrent protection mode.

	· · ·	
LPM_EXIT_CURR_CHx in LPM register	Тур	Units
00 (default)	600	mA
01	800	mA
10	200	mA
11	400	mA
	400	IIIA

衣 8-3.	wake	Up	Settings	

Fault	Response
CHx that are commanded to go to LPM are in thermal shutdown or other FET turn-off (CH specific turn-off, not global fault)	The device transitions to LPM state with the affected channel OFF. In this case while in LPM, the channel is off even though the channel enable bit is set. We recommend that the all the faults are cleared before the command to transition to LPM state is sent. If the device exits the LPM to the active mode through SPI command, the channel is initially OFF and is enabled based on the programmed enable mode (cap charging or other).
Overtemperature	The FET temperature is not monitored – only current limit is enabled for protection and the assumption is that the device temperature stays low as long as the load current stays below the threshold for transition to active state.
VBB undervoltage	The outputs are turned off and recover as the supply is back ON.
Low VDD	If the VDD supply is lost the device transitions to the SLEEP state and all the register information is lost. The device needs to be configured again and transitioned to ACTIVE using the CSN (SPI) input.

表 8-4. Low Power Mode Fault Conditions

8.4.6 LIMP HOME state

LIMP HOME state is intended to place the outputs in the desired safe state when there is a failure of SPI communication or VDD supply. When the ECU detects a system-level fault, the system controller raises the LHI pin high to signal to the device the need to go into the LIMP HOME state. Also, if the device detects a SPI watch dog timeout error and thus an SPI communication error, the device goes to the LIMP HOME state. In both cases, the output state is as specified in the CHx_LH_IN bits of the DEVICE_STAT register.

The register values are retained in the LIMP HOME state, which means that the appropriate overcurrent protection threshold values, duration and retry behavior are all set with the outputs corresponding to the state "LIMPHOME STAT " based on the CHx LH IN bits. Additionally, the bit in the CH FLT TYPE FAULT GLOBAL TYPE register is set which lets the MCU or controller know that the device is in the LIMP HOME state. The MCU cannot write to any of the registers until the device is out of the LIMP HOME state.

Transitioning out of the LIMP HOME state

Device transitions out of the LIMP HOME state when the LHI pin goes low and then SPI writes a 1 to the LIMPHOME_STAT bit in the CH_FLT_TYPE_FAULT_GLOBAL_TYPE register. The register settings are reatined while in LIMP HOME state and the device transitions back into normal operation in the ACTIVE state

LIMP HOME state exceptions



 The device can receive an LHI signal during cap charging or inrush duration. If the desired state is ON, the device continues cap charging per programmed register values. If the desired state is OFF, then the channel is turned off.

DI Pin Functionality

The DI pin determines the output state when the device goes into LIMP HOME state, if the CHx_LH_IN bits are set to 00 in the DEVICE_STAT register.

- If DI is set HI, then CH1 = ON and CH2 = ON when in the LIMP HOME state
- If DI is set LOW, then CH1 = OFF and CH2 = OFF when in the LIMP HOME state

8.4.7 SPI Mode Operation

The TPS2HCS10-Q1 communicates with the host controller through a high-speed SPI serial interface. The interface has three logic inputs: clock (CLK), chip select (\overline{CS}), serial data in (SDI), and one data out (SDO). The SDO is tri-stated when the \overline{CS} pin is high. The maximum SPI clock rate is 10MHz, but is limited in practice by the series protection resistor.

The device supports simple daisy chain SPI. This mode can be used with or without CRC.

The communication between the TPSHCS10 IC and the controller or MCU is through a SPI bus in a primarysecondary configuration. The external MCU is always an SPI primary device that sends command requests on the SDI pin of the TPS2HCS10-Q1 IC and receives device responses on the SDO pin of the IC. The TPS2HCS10-Q1 device is always an SPI secondary (or slave) device that receives command requests over the SDI line and sends responses (such as status and measured values) to the external MCU over the SDO line.

The TPS2HCS10-Q1 device can be connected to the primary MCU in the following formats:



图 8-14. Independent Secondary Configuration (Separate nCS Signal)





图 8-15. Daisy Chain Configuration

SPI interface

The SPI interface pin behavior is described in this section

Chip Select (CS or nCS)

The system microcontroller selects the TPS2HCS10-Q1 to receive communication using the \overline{CS} pin. With the \overline{CS} pin in a logic LOW state, command/configuration words may be sent to the TPS2HCS10-Q1 via the serial input (SDI) pin, and the device information can be retrieved by the microcontroller via the serial output (SDO) pin. The falling edge of the \overline{CS} enables the SDO output and latches the content of the CH_FLT_TYPE/ FAULT_GLOBAL_TYPE register that will be sending out on SDO. The microcontroller may issue a READ command to retrieve information stored in the registers. Rising edge on the \overline{CS} pin initiate following actions:

- 1. Addressed registers are updated if there is no SPI communication error and if it is an SPI write command.
- 2. Read clear register is cleared if a READ command to this register was issued during CS = LOW.

To avoid any corrupted data, it is essential the HIGH-to-LOW and LOW-to-HIGH transitions of the CS signal occur only when SCLK is in a logic LOW state. A clean CS signal is needed to ensure no incomplete SPI words are sent to the device. This pin is internally pulled up to the VDD rail.

System Clock

The system clock (SCLK) pin clocks the internal shift register of the TPS2HCS10-Q1. The SDI data is latched into the input shift register on the falling edge of the SCLK signal. The SDO pin shifts the device stored information out on the rising edge of SCLK. The SDO data is available for the microcontroller to read on the falling edge of SCLK.

False clocking of the shift register must be avoided to ensure validity of data and it is essential the SCLK pin be in a logic LOW state whenever CS pin makes any transition. Therefore, it is recommended that the SCLK pin



gets pulled to a logic LOW state as long as the device is not accessed and the \overline{CS} pin is at a logic HIGH state. When the \overline{CS} is in a logic HIGH state, any signal on the SCLK and SDI pins will be ignored and the SDO pin remains as a high impedance output.

Serial Data In (SDI) and Serial Data Out (SDO)

The SDI pin is used for serial instruction data input. SDI information is latched into the input shift register on the falling edge of the SCLK when \overline{CS} is low.

The SDO pin is the output from the internal shift register. This pin is internally pulled up to the VDD rail. SDO pin is HiZ when the \overline{CS} pin is high. Each successive **rising** SCLK edge makes the next data bit available for the microcontroller to read on the **falling** edge of SCLK. SDO will go back to high-impedance when \overline{CS} is high. FLT

CRC Error Detection and Checking of clocks

Setting the CRC_EN bit high enables CRC error detection. A CRC-4-ITU-Normal Check Sequence (FCS) is then sent along with each serial transaction. The 4-bit CRC is based on the normal generator polynomial X4+X+1 with CRC starting value = 1111. When CRC is enabled, the TPS2HCS10-Q1 expects a check byte appended to the SDI program/configure data that it receives.

To program a complete word, exact bits of information (shown in following table) must be enter into the device. When CRC is disabled, the IC enables register write only if exactly bits have been clocked in. When CRC is enabled, the IC enables register write only if exactly bits have been clocked in with no CRC errors. In case the word length exceeds or does not meet the required length or there is CRC errors, the SPI_ERR bit in the CH_FLT_TYPE_FAULT_GLOBAL_TYPE is asserted to logic "1", and the data received is considered invalid. Note the SPI_ERR bit is not flagged if SCLK is not present. The SPI_ERR will be sent back to SPI Main device on SDO during next chip access. Note that clear on read applies only when there is no SPI error when the register is read.

SPI Frame Format

The device uses a 24-bit frame width (when CRC is not used) with the format as shown in <u>⊠</u> 8-16. Please note that the 16-bit wide "Data Out" in the SDO output is always for the previous SPI command frame (Read or Write).

		Bit23	Bit22	Bit21	Bit20	Bit19	Bit18	Bit17	Bit16	Bit15	Bit14	Bit13	Bit12	Bit11	Bit10	Bit9	Bit8	Bit7	Bit6	Bit5	Bit4	Bit3	Bit2	Bit1	Bit0
		R(0)	RA6	RA5	RA4	RA3	RA2	RA1	RA0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	SDI	Read			regis	ter ad	dress						Don't	care							Do	n't car	e		
		Bit23	Bit22	Bit21	Bit20	Bit19	Bit18	Bit17	Bit16	Bit15	Bit14	Bit13	Bit12	Bit11	Bit10	Bit9	Bit8	Bit7	Bit6	Bit5	Bit4	Bit3	Bit2	Bit1	Bit0
Daisy =1		F15	F14	F13	F12	F11	F10	F9	F8	D15	D14	D13	D12	D11	D10	D9	D8	D7	D6	D5	D4	D3	D2	D1	D0
CRCEN=0	SDO			(H_FL	T_TYF	Ē						Data	a out							Di	ata ou	t		

		Bit23	Bit22	Bit21	Bit20	Bit19	Bit18	Bit17	Bit16	Bit15	Bit14	Bit13	Bit12	Bit11	Bit10	Bit9	Bit8	Bit7	Bit6	Bit5	Bit4	Bit3	Bit2	Bit1	Bit0
		W(1)	RA6	RA5	RA4	RA3	RA2	RA1	RA0	D15	D14	D13	D12	D11	D10	D9	D8	D7	D6	D5	D4	D3	D2	D1	D0
	SDI	Write			regis	ter ad	dress						Dat	a in							. [Data in			
										-															
		Bit23	Bit22	Bit21	Bit20	Bit19	Bit18	Bit17	Bit16	Bit15	Bit14	Bit13	Bit12	Bit11	Bit10	Bit9	Bit8	Bit7	Bit6	Bit5	Bit4	Bit3	Bit2	Bit1	Bit0
Daisy =1		F15	F14	F13	F12	F11	F10	F9	F8	D15	D14	D13	D12	D11	D10	D9	D8	D7	D6	D5	D4	D3	D2	D1	D0
CRCEN=0	SDO	SDO CH_FLT_TYPE					DataOut				DataOut														

图 8-16. 24-bit Read or Write, CRC_EN=0



8.5 TPS2HC10S Registers

 $\frac{1}{8}$ 8-5 lists the memory-mapped registers for the TPS2HC10S registers. All register offset addresses not listed in $\frac{1}{8}$ 8-5 should be considered as reserved locations and the register contents should not be modified.

Offset	Acronym	Register Name	Section
1h	CRC_CONFIG	Configure CRC	Go
2h	SLEEP	Sets to go into SLEEP sate from ACTIVE or STANDBY state	Go
3h	LPM	Sets to go in or out of Low power mode (LPM STATE)	Go
4h	CH_FLT_TYPE_FAULT_GLOBAL _TYPE	Faults for any channel and global faults	Go
5h	FAULT_MASK	Mask the reporting of the faults on the fault pin	Go
6h	ABIST_RESULT	ABIST Diagniostic result	Go
7h	SW_STATE	Turn on/off OUTx	Go
8h	DEVICE_SAF	Device BIST, LIMPHOME, and locking set by SPI	Go
9h	DEV_CONFIG	Device Configureable settings register	Go
Ah	ADC_CONFIG	ADC configuration - disable ADC conversions or ADC entirely	Go
Bh	ADC_RESULT_VBB	ADC conversion result VBB	Go
Dh	FLT_STAT_CH1	Status of the channels and channel faults	Go
Eh	PWM_CH1	Set all PWM configurations for channel 1	Go
Fh	ILIM_CONFIG_CH1	Set all current limit configuration for channel 1	Go
10h	DIAG_CONFIG_CH1	Configuration register for channel 1	Go
11h	ADC_RESULT_CH1_I	ADC conversion result load current sense CH1	Go
12h	ADC_RESULT_CH1_T	ADC conversion result TJ sense CH1	Go
13h	ADC_RESULT_CH1_V	ADC conversion result VOUT sense CH1	Go
14h	I2T_CONFIG_CH1	Set all I2T configuration bits	Go
15h	FLT_STAT_CH2	Status of the channels and channel faults	Go
16h	PWM_CH2	Set all PWM configurations for channel 2	Go
17h	ILIM_CONFIG_CH2	Set all current limit configuration for channel 2	Go
18h	DIAG_CONFIG_CH2	Configuration register for channel 2	Go
19h	ADC_RESULT_CH2_I	ADC conversion result load current sense CH2	Go
1Ah	ADC_RESULT_CH2_T	ADC conversion result TJ sense CH2	Go
1Bh	ADC_RESULT_CH2_V	ADC conversion result VOUT sense CH2	Go
1Ch	I2T_CONFIG_CH2	Set all I2T configuration bits	Go

表 8-5. TPS2HC10S Registers

Complex bit access types are encoded to fit into small table cells. $\frac{1}{2}$ 8-6 shows the codes that are used for access types in this section.

Access Type	Code	Description						
Read Type								
R	R	Read						

表 8-6. TPS2HC10S Access Type Codes



Access Type	Code	Description								
Write Type										
W	W	Write								
W1C	W 1C	Write 1 to clear								
WC	W C	Write to Clear								
Reset or Default	Value	1								
-n		Value after reset or the default value								

表 8-6. TPS2HC10S Access Type Codes(续)





8.5.1 CRC_CONFIG Register (Offset = 1h) [Reset = 0000h]

CRC_CONFIG is shown in 表 8-7.

Return to the Summary Table.

表 8-7. CRC_CONFIG Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
15-1	RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
0	CRC_EN	R/W	0h	Set this bit to 1 to enable CRC check of SPI command frame. 0h = No CRC check of SPI command frame 1h = CRC check of SPI command frame enabled



8.5.2 SLEEP Register (Offset = 2h) [Reset = 0000h]

SLEEP is shown in 表 8-8.

Return to the Summary Table.

表 8-8. SLEEP Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
15-1	RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
0	SLEEP	R/W	0h	Setting this bit to 1 puts the device into SLEEP mode where everything shuts off





8.5.3 LPM Register (Offset = 3h) [Reset = 0000h]

LPM is shown in 表 8-9.

Return to the Summary Table.

Field	Туре	Reset	Description
RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
LPM_EXIT_CURR_CH2	R/W	0h	Set the threshold for exit from LPM mode due to load current increase - CH2. 0h = 600 mA 1h = 800 mA 2h = 200 mA 3h = 400 mA
LPM_EXIT_CURR_CH1	R/W	Oh	Set the threshold for exit from LPM mode due to load current increase - CH1. 0h = 600 mA 1h = 800 mA 2h = 200 mA 3h = 400 mA
LPM	R/W	0h	Setting this bit to 1 puts the device into LPM mode with the channels enabled as per the device
	Field RESERVED RESERVED LPM_EXIT_CURR_CH2	FieldTypeRESERVEDRRESERVEDRLPM_EXIT_CURR_CH2R/WLPM_EXIT_CURR_CH1R/WLPM_EXIT_CURR_CH1R/W	FieldTypeResetRESERVEDR0hRESERVEDR0hRESERVEDR0hLPM_EXIT_CURR_CH2R/W0hLPM_EXIT_CURR_CH1R/W0hLPM_EXIT_CURR_CH1R/W0h

表 8-9. LPM Register Field Descriptions


8.5.4 CH_FLT_TYPE_FAULT_GLOBAL_TYPE Register (Offset = 4h) [Reset = 0347h]

CH_FLT_TYPE_FAULT_GLOBAL_TYPE is shown in 表 8-10.

Return to the Summary Table.

表 8-10. CH_FLT_TYPE_FAULT_GLOBAL_TYPE Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
15	I2T_FLT	R	0h	The bit is set if there is a I2T fault due to ovecurrent in any one of the channels. If FLT_LTCH_DIS bit is set, then the fault bit is latched and is cleared only when the FLT_STAT_CHx register is read and the fault condition no longer exists.
14	LPM_FLT	R	0h	The bit is set if there is a fault during low power mode and the chip comes back to the active state. If FLT_LTCH_DIS bit is set, then the fault bit is latched and is cleared only when the FLT_STAT_CHx register is read and the fault condition no longer exists
13	CHAN_TSD	R	0h	The bit is set if there is a thermal shutdown fault due to thermal overload in any one of the channels. If FLT_LTCH_DIS bit is set, then the fault bit is latched and is cleared only when the FLT_STAT_CHx register is read and the fault condition no longer exists. 0h = no thermal shutdown fault in any of the channels 1h = thermal shutdown fault in one of the channels
12	ILIMIT_FLT	R	Oh	The bit is set if there is a FET turn-off fault due to ovecurrent in any one of the channels. If FLT_LTCH_DIS bit is set, then the fault bit is latched and is cleared only when the FLT_STAT_CHx register is read and the fault condition no longer exists. 0h = no overcurrent fault in any of the channels 1h = overcurrent fault in one of the channels
11	SHRT_VBB_FLT	R	0h	The bit is set if there is a short to VBB supply in the off-state fault in any one of the channels. If FLT_LTCH_DIS bit is set, then the fault bit is latched and is cleared only when the FLT_STAT_CHx register is read and the fault condition no longer exists 0h = no off-state short to VBB fault in any of the channels 1h = off-state short to VBB fault in one of the channels
10	OL_FLT	R	0h	The bit is set if either there is a wire break in the on or off-state fault in any one of the channels. If FLT_LTCH_DIS bit is set, then the fault bit is latched and is cleared only when the FLT_STAT_CHx register is read and the fault condition no longer exists 0h = no on or off-state open laod detection fault in any of the channels 1h = on or off-state open load detection fault in one of the channels
9	SUPPLY_FLT	R	1h	The bit is set if either the VDD_UVLO or VBB_UV are faults occur. If FLT_LTCH_DIS bit is set, then the fault bit is latched and is cleared only when the FLT_STAT_CHx register is read and the fault condition no longer exists. 0h = no UV fault in VDD, VINT or VBB 1h = UV fault in VDD, VINT or VBB
8	GLOBAL_ERR_WRN	R	1h	The bit is set if there is a global fault reported in the FLT_GLOBAL_TYPE register (Bits [7:0] : SPI error, watchdog error, VBB_UV, VBB_UV_WRN, VDD_UVLO, POR fault or LIMPHOME_STAT bit is set. If FLT_LTCH_DIS bit is set, then the fault bit is latched and is cleared only when the FLT_GLOBAL_TYPE register is read and the fault condition no longer exists. 0h = no global fault 1h = One of the following errors have occurred: SPI error, watchdog error, VBB_UV, VBB_UV_WRN, VDD_UVLO, POR fault or LIMPHOME_STAT bit is set
7	LIMPHOME_STAT	W1C	0h	This bit is set high if the device is currently in the limp home mode.



Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description	
6	POR	R/WC	1h	The bit is indicative of whether a power on reset has occurred. 0h = There is no power-on reset anytime after the last register read The register bit is cleared on read, so if read again and the bit is 0, means that no power-on reset has occurred since the read. 1h = A power-on reset has occurred since the last register read.	
5	RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved	
4	SPI_ERR	R/WC	0h	The bit is set if there is an SPI communication error either from format, clock or CRC errors. The fault bit is latched and cleared only after read and the error is removed. 0h = No SPI communication error fault 1h = SPI communication error either from format, clock or CRC has occurred	
3	WD_ERR	R/WC	0h	The bit is set if the watchdog timer is enabled and there has not been an acceptable SPI command in the watchdog timeout window. The fault bit is latched and cleared only after read and the error is removed. 0h = No SPI interface watchdog error 1h = SPI watchdog timeout error has occurred	
2	VDD_UVLO	R/WC	1h	The bit is set if VDD supply is below the UVLO threshold at any time. The fault bit is cleared if the GLOBAL_FAULT_TYPE register is read and the UVLO condition is removed 0h = No VDD UVLO fault 1h = VDD UVLO fault	
1	VBB_UV_WRN	R/WC	1h	The bit is set if VBB supply is below the UV warning (UV_WRN) threshold at any time. The fault bit is cleared if the GLOBAL_FAULT_TYPE register is read and the UV condition is removed 0h = No VBB UV_WRN fault 1h = VBB UV_WRN fault	
0	VBB_UVLO	R/WC	1h	The bit is set if VBB supply is below the UV threshold at any time. The fault bit is cleared if the GLOBAL_FAULT_TYPE register is read and the UV condition is removed 0h = No VBB UV fault 1h = VBB UV fault	

表 8-10. CH_FLT_TYPE_FAULT_GLOBAL_TYPE Register Field Descriptions (续)



8.5.5 FAULT_MASK Register (Offset = 5h) [Reset = 0000h]

FAULT_MASK is shown in 表 8-11.

Return to the Summary Table.

表 8-11. FAULT_MASK Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
15-7	RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
6	MASK_ILIMIT	R/W	Oh	The bit is set to mask the signaling overcurrent protection fault on the FLT pin 0h = Fault is signaled on the FLT pin on overcurrent FET turn-off occuring 1h = Overcurrent protection fault is not signaled (masked from) on the FLT pin
5	MASK_SHRT_VBB	R/W	0h	The bit is set to mask the signaling off-state Short to VBB fault on the FLT pin 0h = Short to VBB Fault is signaled on the FLT pin on detecting the fault with the diagnostic 1h = Short to VBB fault is not signaled (masked from) on the FLT pin
4	MASK_OL_OFF	R/W	Oh	The bit is set to mask the signaling off-state open load fault on the FLT pin 0h = Off-state wire-break fault is signaled on the FLT pin on detecting the fault with the diagnostic 1h = Off-state wire-break fault is not signaled (masked from) on the FLT pin
3	MASK_OL_ON	R/W	Oh	The bit is set to mask the signaling on-state open load fault on the FLT pin 0h = On-state wire-break fault is signaled on the FLT pin on detecting the fault with the diagnostic 1h = On-state wire-break fault is not signaled (masked from) on the FLT pin
2	MASK_SPI_ERR	R/W	Oh	The bit is set to mask the SPI error (SPI_ERR) signaling in the FLT pin output and FAULT_TYPE_STAT register 0h = SPI error is signaled in FAULT_TYPE_STAT register and FLT pin 1h = FAULT_TYPE_STAT register and FLT pin not impacted by SPI error
1	MASK_WD_ERR	R/W	Oh	The bit is set to mask the SPI watchdog error (WD_ERR) signaling in the FLT pin output and FAULT_TYPE_STAT register 0h = SPI watchdog error is signaled in FAULT_TYPE_STAT register and FLT pin 1h = FAULT_TYPE_STAT register and FLT pin not impacted by SPI watchdog error
0	MASK_VBB_UVLO	R/W	0h	The bit is set to mask the supply voltage VBB UVLO fault signaling on the FLT pin output. 0h = VBB UV fault is signaled on the FLT pin on detecting the fault with the diagnostic 1h = VBB UV fault is not signaled (masked from) on the FLT pin



8.5.6 ABIST_RESULT Register (Offset = 6h) [Reset = 0000h]

ABIST_RESULT is shown in 表 8-12.

Return to the Summary Table.

表 8-12. ABIST_RESULT Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
15-4	RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
3	ADC_GOOD	R	0h	This says whether or not the ABIST for the ADC passed (not implemented in the present release) 0h = ABIST for ADC Passed 1h = ABIST for ADC Failed
2	ISNS_GOOD	R	0h	This says whether or not the ABIST for the ISNS passed (not implemented in the present release) 0h = ABIST for ISNSPassed 1h = ABIST for ISNS Failed
1	VBB_UVP_GOOD	R	0h	This says whether or not the ABIST for the VBB passed (not implemented in the present release) 0h = ABIST for VBB Passed 1h = ABIST for VBB Failed
0	BG_GOOD	R	0h	This says whether or not the ABIST for the Bandgap passed (not implemented in the present release) 0h = ABIST for BG Passed 1h = ABIST for BG Failed



8.5.7 SW_STATE Register (Offset = 7h) [Reset = 0000h]

SW_STATE is shown in 表 8-13.

Return to the Summary Table.

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
15-2	RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
1	CH2_ON	R/W	0h	Set this bit to 1 to turn on the FET and CH2 output ON 0h = CH2 Output set to OFF (FET is OFF). 1h = CH2 Output set to ON (FET is ON).
0	CH1_ON	R/W	0h	Set this bit to 1 to turn on the FET and CH1 output ON 0h = CH1 Output set to OFF (FET is OFF). 1h = CH1 Output set to ON (FET is ON).

表 8-13. SW_STATE Register Field Descriptions





8.5.8 DEVICE_SAF Register (Offset = 8h) [Reset = 0000h]

DEVICE_SAF is shown in 表 8-14.

Return to the Summary Table.

表 8-14. DEVICE SAF Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
15-13	RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
12-11	RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
10-9	RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
8-7	CH2_LH_IN	R/W	0h	Decides what to do with the output for LH mode. Either on, off, keep or use associated DI pin 0h = DI control output when in LHM 1h = keep output as it enter LHM 2h = output will be off during LHM 3h = output will be on during LHM
6-5	CH1_LH_IN	R/W	Oh	Decides what to do with the output for LH mode. Either on, off, keep or use associated DI pin 0h = DI control output when in LHM 1h = keep output as it enter LHM 2h = output will be off during LHM 3h = output will be on during LHM
4	ADC_ABIST_RUN	R/W	0h	Run the ABIST diaagnostics for the ADC good signal and update the DIAG_RESULT register with the result. Not available in current silicon, but will be in the production version. Not available with in I2T loop. Reset bit back to 0 after ABIST has been run 0h = ABIST not Running 1h = ABIST for ADC Running
3	ISNS_ABIST_RUN	R/W	0h	Run the ABIST diaagnostics for the ISNS good signal and update the DIAG_RESULT register with the result. Not available when in I2T loop. Reset bit back to 0 after ABIST has been run 0h = ABIST not Running 1h = ABIST for ISNS Running
2	RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
1	BG_ABIST_RUN	R/W	0h	Run the ABIST diaagnostics for the Band Gap good signal and update the DIAG_RESULT register with the result. Reset bit back to 0 after ABIST has been run 0h = ABIST not Running 1h = ABIST for BG Running
0	ADC_EN	R/W	0h	Setting this bit to 1, enables the ADC function 0h = ADC function disabled 1h = ADC enabled



8.5.9 DEV_CONFIG Register (Offset = 9h) [Reset = 0000h]

DEV_CONFIG is shown in 表 8-15.

Return to the Summary Table.

表 8-15. DEV_CONFIG Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
15-7	RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
6	PWM_SHIFT_DIS	R/W	0h	Set this bit to 1 to disable the PWM delay between channels. 0h = PWM rising edges delayed by 100 us on the first rising edge 1h = PWM delay (offset) is disabled so rising edges are aligned
5	RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
4	PARALLEL_12	R/W	0h	Set this bit to 1 to signal that channels 1 and 2 (CH1 and CH2) are paralleled. Write to this bit is valid only when all SW_STATE Channel enable bits are 0 and not rewritten to 1 in the same frame. 0h = CH1 and CH2 are not paralleled together 1h = CH1 and CH2 are paralleled together
3	WD_EN	R/W	0h	The bit is set to enable the watchdog function. The watchdog is triggered if there is not a valid SPI command in the watchdog timeout window 0h = Watchdog is disabled 1h = Watchdog function is enabled
2-1	WD_TO	R/W	0h	Sets the timeout period for the SPI watchdog monitor. The watchdog timeout is triggered if there is not a valid SPI command in the watchdog timeout window 0h = Watchdog timeout 400 us 1h = Watchdog timeout is 400 ms 2h = Watchdog timeout is 800 ms 3h = Watchdog timeout is 1200 ms
0	FLT_LTCH_DIS	R/W	0h	Set this bit to 1 to not latch the fault bits in the register and cleared on read. 0h = Fault bits in FAULT_TYPE_STAT register latched and cleared only on read 1h = Fault bits in FAULT_TYPE_STAT register not latched, cleared when the fault disappears



8.5.10 ADC_CONFIG Register (Offset = Ah) [Reset = 001Ah]

ADC_CONFIG is shown in 表 8-16.

Return to the Summary Table.

表 8-16. ADC_CONFIG Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
15-5	RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
4	ADC_VSNS_DIS	R/W	1h	Set this bit to 1 to disable VOUT sense functionality, exclude VOUT conversion in the ADC conversion sequence. 0h = VOUTSNS ADC functionality enabled, include VOUT_SNS ADC conversion in the sequence 1h = VOUTSNS ADC functionality is disabled
3	ADC_TSNS_DIS	R/W	1h	Set this bit to 1 to disable TEMP sense functionality, exclude TSNS conversion in the ADC conversion sequence. 0h = TSNS ADC functionality enabled, include TSNS ADC conversion in the sequence 1h = TSNS ADC functionality is disabled
2	ADC_ISNS_DIS	R/W	0h	Set this bit to 1 to disable ISNS functionality, exclude ISNS conversion in the ADC conversion sequence. 0h = ISNS ADC functionality enabled, include ISNS ADC conversion in the sequence 1h = ISNS ADC functionality is disabled
1	ADC_VBB_DIS	R/W	1h	Set this bit to 1 to disable VBB_SNS functionality, exclude supply voltage V_VBB conversion in the ADC conversion sequence. 0h = VBB_SNS ADC functionality is enabled, Include supply voltage V_VBB ADC conversion in the sequence 1h = VBB_SNS ADC functionality is disabled
0	RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved



TPS2HCS10-Q1 ZHCSQQ6 - OCTOBER 2023

8.5.11 ADC_RESULT_VBB Register (Offset = Bh) [Reset = 0000h]

ADC_RESULT_VBB is shown in 表 8-17.

Return to the Summary Table.

表 8-17. ADC_RESULT_VBB Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
15-11	RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
10	VBB_RDY	R	0h	Making sure the ADC conversion is new from the last time this was read 0h = VBB ADC Value not updated 1h = New VBB ADC Value Ready
9-0	ADC_RESULT_VBB	R	0h	ADC result (10-bits) from the conversion of the VBB voltage



8.5.12 FLT_STAT_CH1 Register (Offset = Dh) [Reset = 0000h]

FLT_STAT_CH1 is shown in 表 8-18.

Return to the Summary Table.

表 8-18. FLT_STAT_CH1 Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
15-13	RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
12	RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
11	LATCH_STAT_CH1	R	0h	The bit is high if the channel has been latched off after a fault that shut down the channel. Clears when the channel is toggled back on 0h = CH1 is not latched off 1h = CH1 is currently latched off
10	FLT_CH1	R	0h	The bit is set if any type of real time fault (reverse current, thermal shutdown, open load (on/off-state) or short to supply) occurs in CH1 0h = No fault in CH1 1h = One or more fault has occurred in CH1
9	SW_STATE_STAT_CH1	R	0h	Current state of the channel no matter which mode the device is in as long as SPI is readable 0h = CH1 is OFF 1h = CH1 is ON
8	RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
7	I2T_FLT_CH1	R	Oh	The bit is set if there is a fault from I2T setting (overcurrent). Only can go high if I2T_EN is high and an associated fault occurs on that channel. Cleared when FLT_STAT_CH1 register is read and fault condition does not exist anymore 0h = no I2T fault or I2T is not enabled 1h = I2T fault has occurred on CH1
6	LPM_WAKE_CH1	R	Oh	This bit is set if this channel was the reason the device came out of LPM regardless of why 0h = The device was not in LPM or this channel was not the one that cause the device to come out of LPM 1h = This channel was the reason the device came out of LPM
5	THERMAL_SD_CH1	R	Oh	The bit is set if the thermal shutdown has occurred at any time in CH1. The fault is latched and cleared when the FLT_STAT_CH1 register is read and channel temperature has fallen below the thermal shutdown reset threshold. 0h = No thermal shutdown fault in CH1 1h = Thermal shutdown has occurred in CH1
4	ILIMIT_CH1	R	Oh	The bit is set if FET turn-off due to overcurrent has occurred at any time in CH1. The fault is latched and cleared when the FLT_STAT_CH1 register is read and fault condition does not exist anymore. Disabled if I2T mode is enabled 0h = No overcurrent protection fault in CH1 1h = FET turn-off due to overcurrent fault has occurred in CH1
3	SHRT_VBB_CH1	R	Oh	The bit is set if short to VBB has occurred at any time in CH1. The fault is latched and cleared when the FLT_STAT_CH1 register is read and fault condition does not exist anymore. OL_SHRTVBB_DIFF_CH1 must have been enabled previously 0h = No Short to VBB fault in CH1 or short to VBB in OFF state not enabled 1h = Short to VBB Fault
2	OL_OFF_CH1	R	Oh	The bit is set if the open load off state threshold been triggered. Only valid if OL_OFF_EN_CH1 is active. Device is pulled up with the threshold set by OL_PULLUP_STR 0h = No off state open load fault in CH1 or OL detection in OFF state not enabled 1h = Off State Open Load Fault



表 8-18. FLT_STAT_CH1 Register Field Descriptions (续)

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
1	OL_ON_CH1	R	0h	Has the open load on state threshold been triggered? Only valid if OL_ON_EN_CH1 is active. Device is in high resistance mode 0h = No on state open load fault in CH1 or OL detection in OFF state not enabled 1h = On State Open Load Fault
0	THERMAL_WRN_CH1	R	Oh	The bit is set if FET temperature is above the overtemperature warning threshold in CH1. The bit is cleared when over-temperature earning condition does not exist anymore. 0h = FET temperatire below over-temperature warning threshold in CH1 1h = FET temperatire above over-temperature warning threshold in CH1





8.5.13 PWM_CH1 Register (Offset = Eh) [Reset = 0000h]

PWM_CH1 is shown in 表 8-19.

Return to the Summary Table.

表 8-19. PWM_CH1 Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
15-12	RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
11-9	PWM_FREQ_CH1	R/W	Oh	Set the PWM frequency 0h = 0.8 Hz 1h = 3.4 Hz 2h = 13.8 Hz 3h = 111 Hz 4h = 221 Hz 5h = 443 Hz 6h = 885 Hz 7h = 1770 Hz
8-1	PWM_DTY_CH1	R/W	0h	8 bit to set duty cycle for PWM operation of CH1. Each bit ~0.39% duty cycle, linearly up to 100% dutycycle.
0	PWM_EN_CH1	R/W	0h	Enable PWMing of the output if on cycle of PWM is >200us. If not return error in FLT_STAT_CH1 register. PWM mode cannot be enabled unless CAP_CHRGx [1:0] = 00 0h = Output follows SW_STATE behavior (ON/OFF) 1h = Output is PWMing according to duty cycle and frequency set if SW_STATE CH1 is ON



8.5.14 ILIM_CONFIG_CH1 Register (Offset = Fh) [Reset = 0088h]

ILIM_CONFIG_CH1 is shown in 表 8-20.

Return to the Summary Table.

表 8-20. ILIM_CONFIG_CH1 Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
15-14	OCP_INRUSH_CH1	R/W	0h	When CAP_CHRG=11, sets the overcurrent turn-off threshold during inrush phase and thus the peak current of the current pulse. 0h = Sets overcurrent turn-off and peak current to 47.5A 1h = Sets overcurrent turn-off and peak current to 55 A Ah = Sets overcurrent turn-off and peak current to 62.5 A Bh = Sets overcurrent turn-off and peak current to 70 A
13-12	CAP_CHRG_CH1	R/W	Oh	Puts the part into the capacitive load driving mode. Turns on the INRUSH_LIMIT_CH1 bits to set the overcurrent protection or cap charging levels within the INRUSH_DURATION period and during that time there is no PWM or I2T 0h = No cap charging mode (immediate shutdown only) 1h = Cap charging mode dV/dt 2h = Cap charging mode current limit regulation mode. 3h = Cap charging mode - current pulse method
11	I2T_EN_CH1	R/W	0h	Enables the I2T functionality for Channel 1. I2T can be enabled before the channel is enabled or charges up, but the I2T calculation will start after the cap charge period ends If the cap charging mode is enabled (CAP_CHRG_CH1 [1:0] ne 00). 0h = I2T functionality not enabled 1h = I2T functionality is enabled
10-8	INRUSH_DURATION_CH	R/W	Oh	Sets the delay period during with inrush current limit level applies. 0h = 0 1h = 2 2h = 4 3h = 6 4h = 10 5h = 20 6h = 50 7h = 100 ms
7-4	INRUSH_LIMIT_CH1_OR _CAP_CHRG_DVDT	R/W	8h	Overcurrent protection thresholds if CAP_CHRG_CH1 = 00. Becomes cap charging mode control bits when in cap charging mode. This means instead of having an overcurrent protection threshold setting for an inrush period, the bits are used to set the cap charging control bits setting either the dV/dt rate (CAP_CHRG_CH1 = 01), current limit (regulation) level (CAP_CHRG_CH1 = 10) or pulsed current mode parameters. (CAP_CHRG_CH1 = 11). When CAP_CHRG_CH1 = 00, then the same table as ILIMIT_SET_CH1 applies for overcurrent protection threshold during the INRUSH_DURATION. When CAP_CHRG_CH1 = 10, then the current limit threshold is below table with the value divided by 5. When CAP_CHRG_CH1 = 01, 4-bits will be used to set the dV/dt or voltage ramp rate per the table below. Only the specified bit settings are supported. 3h = 2.22 V/ms 5h = 1.0 V/ms 6h = 1.33 V/ms 7h = 1.66 V/ms 9h = 0.67 V/ms Ah = 0.89 V/ms Bh = 1.1 V/ms Ch = 0.33 V/ms



表 8-20. ILIM_CONFIG_CH1 Register Field Descriptions (续)

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
3-0	ILIMIT_SET_CH1	R/W	Reset 8h	Setting the overcurrent protection threshold after the INRUSH_DURATION period. 0h = 10 A 1h = 12.5 A 2h = 15 A 3h = 17.5 A 4h = 20 A 5h = 22.5 A 6h = 25 A
				Th = 32.5 A Sh = 40 A Sh = 47.5 A Sh = 55 A Sh = 62.5 A Ch = 70 A Other settings are not supported.

Copyright © 2023 Texas Instruments Incorporated



8.5.15 DIAG_CONFIG_CH1 Register (Offset = 10h) [Reset = C002h]

DIAG_CONFIG_CH1 is shown in 表 8-21.

Return to the Summary Table.

表 8-21. DIAG_CONFIG_CH1 Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
15	VSNS_DIS_CH1	R/W	1h	Set this bit to 1 to disable the VSNS ADC functionality for this channel 0h = VSNS ADC functionality enabled 1h = VSNS ADC functionality is disabled
14	TSNS_DIS_CH1	R/W	1h	Set this bit to 1 to disable the ADC TSNS functionality for this channel 0h = TSNS ADC functionality enabled 1h = TSNS ADC functionality is disabled
13	ISNS_DIS_CH1	R/W	0h	Set this bit to 1 to disable ISNS ADC functionality for this channel 0h = ISNS ADC functionality enabled 1h = ISNS ADC functionality is disabled
12-11	OL_ON_THLD_CH1	R/W	Oh	Sets the open load detection threshold in the on state. 2 bits to set the open load detection threshold, not implemented in current silicon revision 0h = TBD 1h = TBD 2h = TBD 3h = TBD
10	ISNS_SCALE_CH1	R/W	Oh	Turns on 8x scaling of voltage input to the ADC to improve the current sense resolution 0h = ADC input voltage scale equals 1 1h = ADC input voltage scale equals 8
9	OL_ON_EN_CH1	R/W	Oh	Turns on a more accurate open load detection in the on state with KSNS ratio scaled to lower value. This will set the FET into high Rdson mode therefore this cannot be enabled if there is an existing fault on the channel or the current is too high 0h = KSNS ratio and FET Rdson unchanged 1h = Enable Open Load Detection with a lower KSNS ratio and higher Rdson
8-7	OL_SVBB_BLANK_CH1	R/W	Oh	Sets the blanking time for open load (ON-state and OFF-state) and the short_to_VBB faults before the fault is registered. 0h = Blanking time is 0.4 ms 1h = Blanking time is 1.0 ms 2h = Blanking time is 2.0 ms 3h = Blanking time is 4.0 ms
6-5	OL_PU_STR_CH1	R/W	Oh	Sets the pullup current value (at the OUTx pins) by the off-state open load detection circuit. 0h = I_pu is 32 uA 1h = I_pu is 64 uA 2h = I_pu is 128 uA 3h = I_pu is 256 uA
4	OL_OFF_EN_CH1	R/W	0h	Turns on the pull up to see if there is an open load in the off state. Cannot bet set high if channel is on or fault exists
3	SVBB_EN_CH1	R/W	Oh	Turns on the pull down to see if there is a short to VBB in the off state. Cannot bet set high if channel is on or fault exists
2	LATCH_CH1	R/W	Oh	If fault occurs that channel shuts down, this bit sets if the channel auto retries or latches off 0h = Auto retry after tRETRY and Thys 1h = latch off until SW_STATE register is written to again
1-0	SLRT_CH1	R/W	2h	Slew Rate set for ouput of CH1. 4 different slew rate values for adjustable slew rate per electrical characteristics table



8.5.16 ADC_RESULT_CH1_I Register (Offset = 11h) [Reset = 0000h]

ADC_RESULT_CH1_I is shown in 表 8-22.

Return to the Summary Table.

表 8-22. ADC_RESULT_CH1_I Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
15-11	RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
10	ISNS_RDY_CH1	R	0h	Making sure the ADC conversion is new from the last time this was read
9-0	ADC_RESULT_CH1_I	R	0h	ADC result (10-bits) from the conversion of the current in CH1



8.5.17 ADC_RESULT_CH1_T Register (Offset = 12h) [Reset = 0000h]

ADC_RESULT_CH1_T is shown in 表 8-23.

Return to the Summary Table.

表 8-23. ADC_RESULT_CH1_T Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
15-11	RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
10	TSNS_RDY_CH1	R	0h	Making sure the ADC conversion is new from the last time this was read
9-0	ADC_RESULT_CH1_T	R	0h	ADC result (10-bits) from the conversion of the temperature in CH1



8.5.18 ADC_RESULT_CH1_V Register (Offset = 13h) [Reset = 0000h]

ADC_RESULT_CH1_V is shown in 表 8-24.

Return to the Summary Table.

表 8-24. ADC_RESULT_CH1_V Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
15-11	RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
10	VSNS_RDY_CH1	R	0h	Making sure the ADC conversion is new from the last time this was read
9-0	ADC_RESULT_CH1_V	R	0h	ADC result (10-bits) from the conversion of the output voltage in CH1



8.5.19 I2T_CONFIG_CH1 Register (Offset = 14h) [Reset = 0000h]

I2T_CONFIG_CH1 is shown in 表 8-25.

Return to the Summary Table.

表 8-25. I2T_CONFIG_CH1 Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
15-14	TCLDN_CH1	R/W	Oh	2bits to Set cool down time for I2T functionality for Channel 1 (time to retry after I2T shutdown. 0h = Latch mode (or no retry) 1h = 0.8 s 2h = 2.0 s 3h = 4.0 s
13-11	RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
10-9	SWCL_DLY_TMR_CH1	R/W	Oh	2-bits to set delayed turn-off timer for Channel 1. Sets the time after which the channel shuts down when the current exceeds ISWCL. 0h = 0.2 ms 1h = 0.4 ms 2h = 1.0 ms 3h = 2.0 ms
8-7	ISWCL_CH1	R/W	Oh	2bits to set delayed turn-off current threshold value for I2T functionality for Channel 1. The threshold should be set below the maximum current sensed with the sense resistor chosen. The current threshold assumes a sense resistor of 700 Ω s, otherwise scale the current with the resistor value relative to 700 Ω s 0h = 19.55 1h = 17.6 2h = 16.05 3h = 13.3
6-3	I2T_TRIP_CH1	R/W	Oh	4bits to Set Trip value for I2T functionality for Channel 1. Assumes sense resistor of 700 Ω s, otherwise scale the current with the resistor value relative to 700 Ω s and the threshold changes by the square of the current. Oh = 8.8 A2s 1h = 13.1 A2s 2h = 26.3 A2s 3h = 39.4 A2s 4h = 52.5 A2s 5h = 65.6 A2s 6h = 78.8 A2s 7h = 91.9 A2s 8h = 109.4 A2s 9h = 126.9 A2s Ah = 144.4 A2s Bh = 166.3 A2s Ch = 192.5 A2s Dh = 218.8 A2s Eh = 262.5 A2s Fh = 350 A2s
2-0	NOM_CUR_CH1	R/W	Oh	3 bits to set the nomial current value of Channel 1. Assumes sense resistor of 700 Ω s, otherwise scale the current with the resistor value relative to 700 Ω s 0h = 4.0 A 1h = 5.0 A 2h = 5.7 A 3h = 6.5 A 4h = 7.5 A 5h = 9.0 A 6h = 12.0 A 7h = 15.0 A



8.5.20 FLT_STAT_CH2 Register (Offset = 15h) [Reset = 0000h]

FLT_STAT_CH2 is shown in 表 8-26.

Return to the Summary Table.

表 8-26. FLT_STAT_CH2 Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
15-13	RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
12	RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
11	LATCH_STAT_CH2	R	0h	The bit is high if the channel has been latched off after a fault that shut down the channel. Clears when the channel is toggled back on 0h = CH2 is not latched off 1h = CH2 is currently latched off
10	FLT_CH2	R	0h	The bit is set if any type of real time fault (reverse current, thermal shutdown, open load (on/off-state) or short to supply) occurs in CH2 0h = No fault in CH2 1h = One or more fault has occurred in CH2
9	SW_STATE_STAT_CH2	R	0h	Current state of the channel no matter which mode the device is in as long as SPI is readable 0h = CH2 is OFF 1h = CH2 is ON
8	RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
7	I2T_FLT_CH2	R	Oh	The bit is set if there is a fault from I2T setting (overcurrent). Only can go high if I2T_EN is high and an associated fault occurs on that channel. Cleared when FLT_STAT_CH2 register is read and fault condition does not exist anymore 0h = no I2T fault or I2T is not enabled 1h = I2T fault has occurred on CH2
6	LPM_WAKE_CH2	R	Oh	This bit is set if this channel was the reason the device came out of LPM regardless of why 0h = The device was not in LPM or this channel was not the one that cause the device to come out of LPM 1h = This channel was the reason the device came out of LPM
5	THERMAL_SD_CH2	R	Oh	The bit is set if the thermal shutdown has occurred at any time in CH2. The fault is latched and cleared when the FLT_STAT_CH2 register is read and channel temperature has fallen below the thermal shutdown reset threshold. 0h = No thermal shutdown fault in CH2 1h = Thermal shutdown has occurred in CH2
4	ILIMIT_CH2	R	Oh	The bit is set if FET turn-off due to overcurrent has occurred at any time in CH2. The fault is latched and cleared when the FLT_STAT_CH2 register is read and fault condition does not exist anymore. 0h = No overcurrent rprotection fault in CH2 1h = FET turn-off due to overcurrent fault has occurred in CH2
3	SHRT_VBB_CH2	R	Oh	The bit is set if short to VBB has occurred at any time in CH2. The fault is latched and cleared when the FLT_STAT_CH2 register is read and fault condition does not exist anymore. OL_SHRTVBB_DIFF_CH2 must have been enabled previously 0h = No Short to VBB fault in CH2 or short to VBB in OFF state not enabled 1h = Short to VBB Fault
2	OL_OFF_CH2	R	Oh	Has the open load off state threshold been triggered? Only valid if OL_OFF_EN_CH2 is active. Device is pulled up with the threshold set by OL_PULLUP_STR 0h = No off state open load fault in CH2 or OL detection in OFF state not enabled 1h = Off State Open Load Fault



表 8-26. FLT_STAT_CH2 Register Field Descriptions (续)

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
1	OL_ON_CH2	R	0h	Has the open load on state threshold been triggered? Only valid if OL_ON_EN_CH2 is active. Device is in high resistance mode 0h = No on state open load fault in CH2 or OL detection in OFF state not enabled 1h = On State Open Load Fault
0	THERMAL_WRN_CH2	R	Oh	The bit is set if FET temperature is above the overtemperature warning threshold in CH2. The bit is cleared when over-temperature earning condition does not exist anymore. 0h = FET temperatire below over-temperature warning threshold in CH2 1h = FET temperatire above over-temperature warning threshold in CH2





8.5.21 PWM_CH2 Register (Offset = 16h) [Reset = 0000h]

PWM_CH2 is shown in 表 8-27.

Return to the Summary Table.

表 8-27. PWM_CH2 Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
15-12	RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
11-9	PWM_FREQ_CH2	R/W	Oh	Set the PWM frequency 0h = 0.8 Hz 1h = 3.4 Hz 2h = 13.8 Hz 3h = 111 Hz 4h = 221 Hz 5h = 443 Hz 6h = 885 Hz 7h = 1770 Hz
8-1	PWM_DTY_CH2	R/W	0h	8 bit to set duty cycle for PWM operation of CH2. Each bit ~0.39% duty cycle
0	PWM_EN_CH2	R/W	0h	Enable PWMing of the output if on cycle of PWM is >200us. If not return error in FLT_STAT_CH2 register. PWM mode cannot be enabled unless CAP_CHRGx [1:0] = 00 0h = Output follows SW_STATE behavior (ON/OFF) 1h = Output is PWMing according to duty cycle and frequency set if SW_STATE CH2 is ON



8.5.22 ILIM_CONFIG_CH2 Register (Offset = 17h) [Reset = 0088h]

ILIM_CONFIG_CH2 is shown in 表 8-28.

Return to the Summary Table.

表 8-28. ILIM_CONFIG_CH2 Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
15-14	OCP_INRUSH_CH2	R/W	Oh	When CAP_CHRG=11, sets the overcurrent turn-off threshold during inrush phase and thus the peak current of the current pulse. 0h = Sets overcurrent turn-off and peak current to 47.5A 1h = Sets overcurrent turn-off and peak current to 55 A Ah = Sets overcurrent turn-off and peak current to 62.5 A Bh = Sets overcurrent turn-off and peak current to 70 A
13-12	CAP_CHRG_CH2	R/W	Oh	Puts the part into the capacitive load driving mode. Turns on the INRUSH_LIMIT_CH2 bits to set the overcurrent protection or cap charging levels within the INRUSH_DURATION period and during that time there is no PWM or I2T 0h = No cap charging mode (immediate shutdown only) 1h = Cap charging mode dV/dt 2h = Cap charging mode current limit regulation mode. 3h = Cap charging mode - current pulse method
11	I2T_EN_CH2	R/W	0h	Enables the I2T functionality for Channel 2. I2T can be enabled before the channel is enabled or charges up, but the I2T calculation will start after the cap charge period ends If the cap charging mode is enabled (CAP_CHRG_CH2 [1:0] ne 00).
10-8	INRUSH_DURATION_CH 2	R/W	Oh	Sets the delay period during with inrush current limit level applies. See table of delay settings in the datasheet. 0h = 0 1h = 2 2h = 4 3h = 6 4h = 10 5h = 20 6h = 50 7h = 100 ms
7-4	INRUSH_LIMIT_CH2_OR _CAP_CHRG_DVDT	R/W	8h	Overcurrent protection thresholds if CAP_CHRG_CH1 = 00. Becomes cap charging mode control bits when in cap charging mode. This means instead of having an overcurrent protection threshold setting for an inrush period, the bits are used to set the cap charging control bits setting either the dV/dt rate (CAP_CHRG_CH1 = 01), current limit (regulation) level (CAP_CHRG_CH1 = 10) or pulsed current mode parameters. (CAP_CHRG_CH1 = 11). When CAP_CHRG_CH1 = 00, then the same table as ILIMIT_SET_CH1 applies for overcurrent protection threshold during the INRUSH_DURATION. When CAP_CHRG_CH1 = 10, then the current limit threshold is below table with the value divided by 5. When CAP_CHRG_CH1 = 01, 4-bits will be used to set the dV/dt or voltage ramp rate per the table below. Only the specified bit settings are supported. 3h = 2.22 V/ms 5h = 1.0 V/ms 6h = 1.33 V/ms 7h = 1.66 V/ms 9h = 0.67 V/ms Ah = 0.89 V/ms Bh = 1.1 V/ms Ch = 0.33 V/ms Dh = 0.50 V/ms



表 8-28. ILIM_CONFIG_(CH2 Register Field Descriptions	(续)
-----------------------	---------------------------------	-----

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
<u>Bit</u> 3-0	Field ILIMIT_SET_CH2	Type R/W	Reset 8h	Description Setting the overcurrent protection threshold after the INRUSH_DURATION period. 0h = 10 A 1h = 12.5 A 2h = 15 A 3h = 17.5 A 4h = 20 A 5h = 22.5 A 6h = 25 A 7h = 32.5 A 8h = 40 A 9h = 47.5 A
				Ah = 55 A Bh = 62.5 A Ch = 70 A Other settings are not supported.



8.5.23 DIAG_CONFIG_CH2 Register (Offset = 18h) [Reset = C002h]

DIAG_CONFIG_CH2 is shown in 表 8-29.

Return to the Summary Table.

表 8-29. DIAG_CONFIG_CH2 Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
15	VSNS_DIS_CH2	R/W	1h	Set this bit to 1 to disable the VSNS ADC functionality for this channel 0h = VSNS ADC functionality enabled 1h = VSNS ADC functionality is disabled
14	TSNS_DIS_CH2	R/W	1h	Set this bit to 1 to disable the ADC TSNS functionality for this channel 0h = TSNS ADC functionality enabled 1h = TSNS ADC functionality is disabled
13	ISNS_DIS_CH2	R/W	0h	Set this bit to 1 to disable ISNS ADC functionality for this channel 0h = ISNS ADC functionality enabled 1h = ISNS ADC functionality is disabled
12-11	OL_ON_THLD_CH2	R/W	Oh	Sets the open load detection threshold in the on state. 2 bits to set the open load detection threshold, not implemented in current silicon revision 0h = TBD 1h = TBD 2h = TBD 3h = TBD
10	ISNS_SCALE_CH2	R/W	Oh	Turns on 8x scaling of voltage input to the ADC to improve the current sense resolution 0h = ADC input voltage scale equals 1 1h = ADC input voltage scale equals 8
9	OL_ON_EN_CH2	R/W	Oh	Turns on a more accurate open load detection in the on state with KSNS ratio scaled to lower value. This will set the FET into high Rdson mode therefore this cannot be enabled if there is an existing fault on the channel or the current is too high 0h = KSNS ratio and FET Rdson unchanged 1h = Enable more accurate Open Load Detection with a lower KSNS ratio and higher Rdson
8-7	OL_SVBB_BLANK_CH2	R/W	Oh	Sets the blanking time for open load (ON-state and OFF-state) and the short_to_VBB faults before the fault is registered. 0h = Blanking time is 0.4 ms 1h = Blanking time is 1.0 ms 2h = Blanking time is 2.0 ms 3h = Blanking time is 4.0 ms
6-5	OL_PU_STR_CH2	R/W	Oh	Sets the pullup current value (at the OUTx pins) by the off-state open load detection circuit. 0h = I_pu is 32 uA 1h = I_pu is 64 uA 2h = I_pu is 128 uA 3h = I_pu is 256 uA
4	OL_OFF_EN_CH2	R/W	0h	Turns on the pull up to see if there is an open load in the off state. Cannot bet set high if channel is on or fault exists
3	SVBB_EN_CH2	R/W	0h	Turns on the pull down to see if there is a short to VBB in the off state. Cannot bet set high if channel is on or fault exists
2	LATCH_CH2	R/W	Oh	If fault occurs that channel shuts down, this bit sets if the channel auto retries or latches off 0h = Auto retry after tRETRY and Thys 1h = latch off until SW_STATE register is written to again
1-0	SLRT_CH2	R/W	2h	Slew Rate set for ouput of CH1. 4 different slew rate values for adjustable slew rate per electrical characteristics table



8.5.24 ADC_RESULT_CH2_I Register (Offset = 19h) [Reset = 0000h]

ADC_RESULT_CH2_I is shown in 表 8-30.

Return to the Summary Table.

表 8-30. ADC_RESULT_CH2_I Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
15-11	RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
10	ISNS_RDY_CH2	R	0h	Making sure the ADC conversion is new from the last time this was read
9-0	ADC_RESULT_CH2_I	R	0h	ADC result (10-bits) from the conversion of the current in CH2



8.5.25 ADC_RESULT_CH2_T Register (Offset = 1Ah) [Reset = 0000h]

ADC_RESULT_CH2_T is shown in 表 8-31.

Return to the Summary Table.

表 8-31. ADC_RESULT_CH2_T Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
15-11	RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
10	TSNS_RDY_CH2	R	0h	Making sure the ADC conversion is new from the last time this was read
9-0	ADC_RESULT_CH2_T	R	0h	ADC result (10-bits) from the conversion of the temperature in CH2



8.5.26 ADC_RESULT_CH2_V Register (Offset = 1Bh) [Reset = 0000h]

ADC_RESULT_CH2_V is shown in 表 8-32.

Return to the Summary Table.

表 8-32. ADC_RESULT_CH2_V Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
15-11	RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
10	VSNS_RDY_CH2	R	0h	Making sure the ADC conversion is new from the last time this was read
9-0	ADC_RESULT_CH2_V	R	0h	ADC result (10-bits) from the conversion of the output voltage in CH2



8.5.27 I2T_CONFIG_CH2 Register (Offset = 1Ch) [Reset = 0000h]

I2T_CONFIG_CH2 is shown in 表 8-33.

Return to the Summary Table.

表 8-33. I2T_CONFIG_CH2 Register Field Descriptions

Bit	Field	Туре	Reset	Description
15-14	TCLDN_CH2	R/W	Oh	2bits to Set cool down time for I2T functionality for Channel 2 (time to retry after I2T shutdown. 0h = Latch mode (or no retry) 1h = 0.8 s 2h = 2.0 s 3h = 4.0 s
13-11	RESERVED	R	0h	Reserved
10-9	SWCL_DLY_TMR_CH2	R/W	0h 2-bits to set delayed turn-off timer for Channel 2. Sets the time which the channel shuts down when the current exceeds ISWC 0h = 0.2 ms 1h = 0.4 ms 2h = 1.0 ms 3h = 2.0 ms	
8-7	ISWCL_CH2	R/W	Oh	2-bits to set delayed turn-off current threshold value for I2T functionality for Channel 2. The threshold should be set below the maximum current sensed with the sense resistor chosen. The current threshold assumes a sense resistor of 700 Ω s, otherwise scale the current with the resistor value relative to 700 Ω s 0h = 19.55 1h = 17.6 2h = 16.05 3h = 13.3
6-3	I2T_TRIP_CH2	R/W	Oh	4-bits to Set Trip value for I2T functionality for Channel 1. Assumes sense resistor of 700 Ω s, otherwise scale the current with the resistor value relative to 700 Ω s and the threshold changes by the square of the current. Oh = 8.8 A2s 1h = 13.1 A2s 2h = 26.3 A2s 3h = 39.4 A2s 4h = 52.5 A2s 5h = 65.6 A2s 6h = 78.8 A2s 7h = 91.9 A2s 8h = 109.4 A2s 9h = 126.9 A2s Ah = 144.4 A2s Bh = 166.3 A2s Ch = 192.5 A2s Dh = 218.8 A2s Eh = 262.5 A2s Fh = 350 A2s
2-0	NOM_CUR_CH2	R/W	Oh	3 bits to set the nomial current value of Channel 2. Assumes sense resistor of 700 Ω s, otherwise scale the current with the resistor value relative to 700 Ω s Oh = 4.0 A 1h = 5.0 A 2h = 5.7 A 3h = 6.5 A 4h = 7.5 A 5h = 9.0 A 6h = 12.0 A 7h = 15.0 A



9 Application and Implementation

备注

Information in the following applications sections is not part of the TI component specification, and TI does not warrant its accuracy or completeness. TI's customers are responsible for determining suitability of components for their purposes. Customers should validate and test their design implementation to confirm system functionality.

9.1 Application Information

9-1 shows the schematic of a typical application of the TPS2HC10S. It includes all standard external components. This section of the data sheet discusses the considerations in implementing commonly required application functionality. The circuit assumes no reverse polarity protection on the input supply, so additional components for protection are required.

Special Note on Prototype Silicon

The prototype silicon is not the final production silicon and is offered as preview. The following limitations exist in the prototype version.

- There is a variation of ADC output in the range of +/-12 codes (for current sense) or +/- 4 codes for voltage sensing for a constant load current or output voltage and can affect the ADC readings at the low end of ADC range. The reason is due to excessive noise on the ADC supply input, which will be corrected in the production release.
- 2. The prototype device does not reliably support turn-off of the outputs (FETs) in case of a loss of GND. The production version will support FET turn-off with loss-of-GND.
- 3. The prototype device may see a high current flow and potential pin damage into the device upon unclamped negative transient similar to ISO-7637 Pulse 1 at the VBB supply input. The production version will be robust against these transients.



TPS2HCS10-Q1 ZHCSQQ6 - OCTOBER 2023



With the ground protection network, the device ground will be offset relative to the micro-controller ground. The same power supply (5 V (recommended) or 3.3V) source should be used for the controller (MCU) I/O as well as the VDD supply input to the TPS2HCS10-Q1 device.

图 9-1. System Diagram

COMPONENT	TYPICAL VALUE	PURPOSE			
R _{PROT1}	1 - 2.2 k Ω	Protect micro-controller and device SPI pins			
R _{PROT2}	10 k Ω	Protect micro-controller and device GPIO pins			
R _{SNS}	1 k Ω	Translate the sense current into sense voltage for ADC input			
C _{SNS}	1 nF - 4.7 nF	Low-pass filter for the ADC input.			
Input TVS	+36 V and - 20 V	Suppress voltage transients (one for the module)			
D _{GND} ,	BAS21 / Schottky Diode	Limit Current during reverse voltage on supply events. A low forward voltage diode is recommended and a Schottky diode is suggested when the low voltage supply VDD is 3.3V. (Note that we recommend 5V supply for the prototype silicon)			
R _{GND}	4.7 k Ω	Maintain ground potential during negative output voltage excursions			
R _{VDD}	220 Ω	Limit current to the device during transients			
C _{VDD}	470 nF	VDD supply voltage stability to system ground.			
C _{VBB1}	4.7 nF to Device GND	Filtering of transients (for example, ESD, ISO7637-2) and improved emissions.			
C _{VBB2}	100 - 2200-nF to Module GND	Stabilize the input supply and filter out low frequency noise.			
C _{OUT}	22 nF	Filtering of voltage transients (for example, ESD, ISO7637-2).			

表 9-1. Recommended External Components

9.2 Typical Application

This application example demonstrates how the TPS2HC10S-Q1 device can be used to power ECU loads with large input capacitance. This is just one example of the many applications where this device can fit.





9.2.1 Design Requirements

For this design example, use the input parameters shown in $\frac{1}{8}$ 9-2.

DESIGN PARAMETER	Case 1	Case 2
V _{BB} range	8 V to 16 V	8 V to 16 V
Input Capacitance of the ECU load	600 uF	1500 uF
Maximum parallel load during the charging phase	3 A	0.4 A
Time to charge	2 ms	40 ms
Ambient temperature	85°C	85°C

表 9-2. Design Parameters

9.2.2 Detailed Design Procedure

9.2.2.1 Thermal Considerations

The output voltage ramps while the load capacitance is being charged. During this period, the power dissipation in the FET is high due to the large drain-to-source voltage. The power dissipation and the resultant increase in the silicon junction temperature limits the capacitance that can be charged before the device hits thermal shutdown. In general, lower the charging rate (current), the higher the value of capacitance that can be charged. But if a lower charging current is used, the charging time will be higher. In the application cases considered here, it is expected that the FET junction temperature will not reach the thermal shutdown threshold.

9.2.2.2 Configuring the Capacitive Charging Mode

The configuration parameters for the two channels are in the ILIM CONFIG CH1 and ILIM CONFIG CH2 registers respectively. The device can be configured in the capacitive charging mode that is the best choice for the capacitance and the parallel load current draw. The device offers two options - a constant current charging mode designed for cases where there is a significant load current during charging phase (Case 1) or a fixed dV/dt rate charging mode that is designed for very large capacitive loads that needs to be charged with a very low charging current (Case 2). For both modes, the charging rate is set by the

TEXAS

INSTRUMENTS



INRUSH_LIMIT_CH1_OR_CAP_CHRG_DVDT bits ([7:4]) in the ILIM_CONFIG_CH1 or ILIM_CONFIG_CH2 registers. The INRUSH_DURATION_CHx bits should be set such that the worst case expected capacitive charge time is below the programmed inrush duration. The recommended choice of bit settings for each application case is listed in the table below.

Bit Field in the ILIM_CONFIG_CHx Register	Case 1	Case 2
CAP_CHRG_CHx	0x02h	0x01h
INRUSH_DURATION_CHx	0x02h	0x06h
INRUSH_LIMIT_CH1_OR_CAP_CHRG_DV DT	0x04h	0x0Ah

¥	9-3.	Setting	Capacitive	Charging	Mode	Parameters
v.	J-J.	Setting	Capacitive	onarging	woue	i alameters

9.3 Power Supply Recommendations

The device is designed to operate in a 12-V automotive system. The device works with two power supply inputs – a typically 12V battery input and a low voltage supply input (5V or 3.3V) typically generated with a DC-DC converter (recommended to reduce quiescent current draw from the battery) or LDO external to the IC from the battery.

The nominal supply voltage range is 6 V to 18 V as measured at the V_{BB} pin with respect to the GND pin of the device. In this range the device meets full parametric specifications as listed in the *Electrical Characterisitcs* table. The device is also designed to withstand voltage transients beyond this range like load dump. When operating outside of the nominal voltage range but within the operating voltage range, the device will exhibit normal functional behavior.

V _{BB} VOLTAGE RANGE	NOTE
3 V to 6 V	Extended lower 12-V automotive battery operation such as cold crank and start-stop. Device is fully functional and protected but some parametrics such as RON, current sense accuracy, over-current thresholds and timing parameters can deviate from specifications. Check the individual specifications in the Electrical Characteristics to confirm the voltage range it is applicable for,
6 V to 18 V	Nominal supply voltage, all parametric specifications apply. The device is completely short-circuit protected up to 125°C.
18 V to 24 V	Extended upper 12-V automotive battery operation such as double battery. Device is fully functional and protected but some parametrics such as RON, current sense accuracy, over-current thresholds, and timing parameters can deviate from specifications. Check the individual specifications in the Electrical Characteristics to confirm the voltage range it is applicable for.
24 V to 35 V	Load dump voltage. Device is operational and lets the pulse pass through without being damaged but does not protect against short circuits.

9.4 Layout

9.4.1 Layout Guidelines

To achieve optimal thermal performance, connect the exposed thermal pad (connected to VBB pin) to a large broken copper pour. On the top PCB layer, the pour can extend beyond the package dimensions as shown in the example below. In addition to this, TI recommends to also have a V_{BB} plane either on one of the internal PCB layers or on the bottom layer.

Vias must connect this plane to the top V_{BB} pour. TI recommends that the IO pins that connect to the controller be routed through a via and internal or bottom PCB layer.

Copyright © 2023 Texas Instruments Incorporated



9.4.2 Layout Example

A PCB layout example is shown with the top layer copper for VBB input to the device and the VOUTx pins. The IO connected to the MCU is shown in another PCB layer with vias from the device pin connections.



图 9-3. 16-PWP Layout Example

10 Device and Documentation Support

10.1 Documentation Support

10.1.1 Related Documentation

For related documentation see the following:

- Texas Instruments, TPS2HCS10-Q1 Configurator GUI
- Texas Instruments, TPS2HCS10-Q1 Source Release
- Texas Instruments, Smart Fuse Evaluation Module user's guide
- · Texas Instruments, Short-Circuit Reliability Test for Smart Power Switch application report
- Texas Instruments, Reverse Battery Protection for High Side Switches application report
- Texas Instruments, *How To Drive Inductive, Capacitive, and Lighting Loads with Smart High Side Switches* application report

10.2 接收文档更新通知

要接收文档更新通知,请导航至 ti.com 上的器件产品文件夹。点击*通知*进行注册,即可每周接收产品信息更改摘要。有关更改的详细信息,请查看任何已修订文档中包含的修订历史记录。

10.3 支持资源

TI E2E[™] 中文支持论坛是工程师的重要参考资料,可直接从专家处获得快速、经过验证的解答和设计帮助。搜索现有解答或提出自己的问题,获得所需的快速设计帮助。

链接的内容由各个贡献者"按原样"提供。这些内容并不构成 TI 技术规范,并且不一定反映 TI 的观点;请参阅 TI 的使用条款。

10.4 Trademarks

TI E2E[™] is a trademark of Texas Instruments.

所有商标均为其各自所有者的财产。

10.5 静电放电警告



静电放电 (ESD) 会损坏这个集成电路。德州仪器 (TI) 建议通过适当的预防措施处理所有集成电路。如果不遵守正确的处理和安装程序,可能会损坏集成电路。

ESD 的损坏小至导致微小的性能降级,大至整个器件故障。精密的集成电路可能更容易受到损坏,这是因为非常细微的参数更改都可能会导致器件与其发布的规格不相符。

10.6 术语表

TI 术语表 本术语表列出并解释了术语、首字母缩略词和定义。

11 Mechanical, Packaging, and Orderable Information

The following pages include mechanical, packaging, and orderable information. This information is the most current data available for the designated devices. This data is subject to change without notice and revision of this document. For browser-based versions of this data sheet, refer to the left-hand navigation.



11.1 Tape and Reel Information






Device	Package Type	Package Drawing	Pins	SPQ	Length (mm)	Width (mm)	Height (mm)
PTPS2HCS10AQPWPRQ1	HTSSOP	PWP	16	3000	367.0	367.0	38.0







PACKAGE OUTLINE

PowerPAD[™] TSSOP - 1.2 mm max height

SMALL OUTLINE PACKAGE



NOTES:

1. All linear dimensions are in millimeters. Any dimensions in parenthesis are for reference only. Dimensioning and tolerancing

 Per ASME Y14.5M.
This drawing is subject to change without notice.
This drawing is subject to change without notice. exceed 0.15 mm per side. 4. Reference JEDEC registration MO-153. 5. Features may differ or may not be present.





PWP0016P

EXAMPLE BOARD LAYOUT

PowerPAD[™] TSSOP - 1.2 mm max height

SMALL OUTLINE PACKAGE



NOTES: (continued)

6. Publication IPC-7351 may have alternate designs.

Solder mask tolerances between and around signal pads can vary based on board fabrication site.
This package is designed to be soldered to a thermal pad on the board. For more information, see Texas Instruments literature numbers SLMA002 (www.ti.com/lit/slma002) and SLMA004 (www.ti.com/lit/slma004).

 Size of metal pad may vary due to creepage requirement.
Vias are optional depending on application, refer to device data sheet. It is recommended that vias under paste be filled, plugged or tented.





EXAMPLE STENCIL DESIGN

PWP0016P

PowerPAD[™] TSSOP - 1.2 mm max height

SMALL OUTLINE PACKAGE



NOTES: (continued)

11. Laser cutting apertures with trapezoidal walls and rounded corners may offer better paste release. IPC-7525 may have alternate

design recommendations. 12. Board assembly site may have different recommendations for stencil design.





PACKAGING INFORMATION

Orderable Device	Status (1)	Package Type	e Package Drawing	Pins	Package Qty	Eco Plan (2)	Lead finish/ Ball material (6)	MSL Peak Temp (3)	Op Temp (°C)	Device Marking (4/5)	Samples
PTPS2HCS10AQPWPRQ1	ACTIVE	HTSSOP	PWP	16	3000	TBD	Call TI	Call TI	-40 to 125		Samples

⁽¹⁾ The marketing status values are defined as follows:

ACTIVE: Product device recommended for new designs.

LIFEBUY: TI has announced that the device will be discontinued, and a lifetime-buy period is in effect.

NRND: Not recommended for new designs. Device is in production to support existing customers, but TI does not recommend using this part in a new design.

PREVIEW: Device has been announced but is not in production. Samples may or may not be available.

OBSOLETE: TI has discontinued the production of the device.

⁽²⁾ RoHS: TI defines "RoHS" to mean semiconductor products that are compliant with the current EU RoHS requirements for all 10 RoHS substances, including the requirement that RoHS substance do not exceed 0.1% by weight in homogeneous materials. Where designed to be soldered at high temperatures, "RoHS" products are suitable for use in specified lead-free processes. TI may reference these types of products as "Pb-Free".

RoHS Exempt: TI defines "RoHS Exempt" to mean products that contain lead but are compliant with EU RoHS pursuant to a specific EU RoHS exemption.

Green: TI defines "Green" to mean the content of Chlorine (CI) and Bromine (Br) based flame retardants meet JS709B low halogen requirements of <=1000ppm threshold. Antimony trioxide based flame retardants must also meet the <=1000ppm threshold requirement.

⁽³⁾ MSL, Peak Temp. - The Moisture Sensitivity Level rating according to the JEDEC industry standard classifications, and peak solder temperature.

⁽⁴⁾ There may be additional marking, which relates to the logo, the lot trace code information, or the environmental category on the device.

⁽⁵⁾ Multiple Device Markings will be inside parentheses. Only one Device Marking contained in parentheses and separated by a "~" will appear on a device. If a line is indented then it is a continuation of the previous line and the two combined represent the entire Device Marking for that device.

⁽⁶⁾ Lead finish/Ball material - Orderable Devices may have multiple material finish options. Finish options are separated by a vertical ruled line. Lead finish/Ball material values may wrap to two lines if the finish value exceeds the maximum column width.

Important Information and Disclaimer: The information provided on this page represents TI's knowledge and belief as of the date that it is provided. TI bases its knowledge and belief on information provided by third parties, and makes no representation or warranty as to the accuracy of such information. Efforts are underway to better integrate information from third parties. TI has taken and continues to take reasonable steps to provide representative and accurate information but may not have conducted destructive testing or chemical analysis on incoming materials and chemicals. TI and TI suppliers consider certain information to be proprietary, and thus CAS numbers and other limited information may not be available for release.

In no event shall TI's liability arising out of such information exceed the total purchase price of the TI part(s) at issue in this document sold by TI to Customer on an annual basis.

GENERIC PACKAGE VIEW

PWP 16

PowerPAD[™] TSSOP - 1.2 mm max height

PLASTIC SMALL OUTLINE



Images above are just a representation of the package family, actual package may vary. Refer to the product data sheet for package details.



重要声明和免责声明

TI"按原样"提供技术和可靠性数据(包括数据表)、设计资源(包括参考设计)、应用或其他设计建议、网络工具、安全信息和其他资源, 不保证没有瑕疵且不做出任何明示或暗示的担保,包括但不限于对适销性、某特定用途方面的适用性或不侵犯任何第三方知识产权的暗示担 保。

这些资源可供使用 TI 产品进行设计的熟练开发人员使用。您将自行承担以下全部责任:(1) 针对您的应用选择合适的 TI 产品,(2) 设计、验 证并测试您的应用,(3) 确保您的应用满足相应标准以及任何其他功能安全、信息安全、监管或其他要求。

这些资源如有变更,恕不另行通知。TI 授权您仅可将这些资源用于研发本资源所述的 TI 产品的应用。严禁对这些资源进行其他复制或展示。 您无权使用任何其他 TI 知识产权或任何第三方知识产权。您应全额赔偿因在这些资源的使用中对 TI 及其代表造成的任何索赔、损害、成 本、损失和债务,TI 对此概不负责。

TI 提供的产品受 TI 的销售条款或 ti.com 上其他适用条款/TI 产品随附的其他适用条款的约束。TI 提供这些资源并不会扩展或以其他方式更改 TI 针对 TI 产品发布的适用的担保或担保免责声明。

TI 反对并拒绝您可能提出的任何其他或不同的条款。

邮寄地址:Texas Instruments, Post Office Box 655303, Dallas, Texas 75265 Copyright © 2023,德州仪器 (TI) 公司